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Balance sheet - consolidated financial position1

Assets

In millions of euros Note 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Goodwill, net 5 and 6 3,543.5 4,305.0

Intangible assets, net 5 2,240.8 2,705.3

Property, plant & equipment, net 5 1,577.5 1,592.7

Non-current financial assets 5 and 9 353.4 469.6

Pledged cash and cash equivalents 5 and 8 0.7 34.6

Equity-method investments 5 and 7 2,173.8 3,726.8

Deferred tax assets 5 210.0 196.8

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 10,099.7 13,030.8

Assets of operations held for sale 13 43.7 970.8

Assets of operations to be recognized using the equity method 13 1,751.0 -

Inventories 5 540.2 485.8

Trade receivables 5 1,948.2 2,044.0

Other current assets 5 301.5 264.5

Current income tax assets 5 65.7 73.1

Other current financial assets 5 and 9 411.7 421.3

Cash and cash equivalents 5 and 8 1,620.6 1,188.6

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4,887.9 4,477.3

TOTAL ASSETS 16,782.3 18,478.9

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated statements.
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Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

In millions of euros Note 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Share capital 192.0 192.0

Share premiums 33.2 31.7

Retained earnings & other reserves 2,560.0 2,904.5

Net income for the period – Group share -425.1 -146.2

  2,360.2 2,982.0

Non-controlling interests 922.2 972.5

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 10 3,282.4 3,954.5

Long-term provisions 5 and 11 473.5 453.4

Financial debt (non-current portion) 5 and 12 7,261.2 8,660.9

Other non-current financial liabilities 5 and 9 727.6 748.4

Deferred tax liabilities 5 728.8 722.0

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 9,191.1 10,584.6

Liabilities of operations held for sale 13 11.4 794.3

Liabilities of operations to be recognized using the equity 
method 13 1,169.8 -

Short-term provisions 5 and 11 66.1 136.0

Financial debt (current portion) 5 and 12 964.4 910.3

Other current financial liabilities 5 and 9 269.5 184.6

Trade payables 5 830.8 785.0

Other current liabilities 5 906.1 1,034.3

Current income tax liabilities 5 90.7 95.2

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,127.6 3,145.4

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 16,782.3 18,478.9

agreement described in note 2 “Changes in scope of consolidation” and note 13 “Operations to be recognized using the equity method.”

In accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations,” the assets and liabilities of the AlliedBarton Group
have been reclassified to “Assets of operations to be recognized using the equity method” and “Liabilities of operations to be recognized
using the equity method” as of June 30, 2016, i.e. the accounting closing date of AlliedBarton closest to the signing of the merger

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated statements.



Consolidated income statement

Condensed consolidated financial statements H1 2016

4 WENDEL - Consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2016

Consolidated income statement2

In millions of euros Note 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Net sales 5 and 14 4,091.9 3,602.7

Other income from operations 5.4 1.9

Operating expenses -3,684.6 -3,232.1

INCOME FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 412.7 372.5

Other operating income and expenses 5 -27.8 -28.5

OPERATING INCOME 5 384.9 344.0

Income from cash and cash equivalents 1.7 1.4

Finance costs, gross -200.5 -190.0

Finance costs, net 5 and 15 -198.8 -188.6

Other financial income and expense 5 and 16 -114.0 -3.1

Tax expense 5 and 17 -114.7 -106.8

Net income (loss) from equity-method investments 5 and 18 -306.0 89.9

NET INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS -348.6 135.3

Net income from discontinued operations and operations held for 
sale 13 81.7 7.5

Net income of operations to be recognized using the equity method 13 -46.2 -

NET INCOME -313.2 142.8

Net income – non-controlling interests 111.9 110.6

NET INCOME – GROUP SHARE -425.1 32.2

In euros Note  1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Basic earnings per share 19 -9.27 0.70

Diluted earnings per share 19 -9.46 0.59

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 19 -10.07 0.54

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 19 -10.26 0.43

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations 19 0.80 0.16

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations 19 0.80 0.15

In accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations”:

closing date of AlliedBarton closest to the signing of the merger
agreement described in note 2 “Changes in scope of

single income statement line, “Net income of operations to be
recognized using the equity method,” as of June 30, 2016, i.e. the

the contribution of AlliedBarton in H1 2016 was reclassified to a■

consolidation”;
consolidation”).

the effective divestment in H1 2016 are recognized in “Net income
from operations held for sale” (see note 2, “Changes in scope of

the gain on divestment of Parcours, together with the contribution■
of the Parcours Group in H1 2015 and the four-month period until

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income3

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

amounts
Gross Tax

effect
Net

amounts
Gross

amounts
Tax

effect
Net

amounts

Items recyclable into net income

Currency translation reserves -45.6 - -45.6 248.1 - 248.1

Gains and losses on qualified hedges -4.9 1.2 -3.7 13.7 -16.3 -2.7

Gains and losses on assets available for sale -5.6 - -5.6 3.3 - 3.3

Earnings previously recognized in shareholders’ equity 
taken to the income statement 1.7 -0.4 1.3 -0.5 0.1 -0.4

Items non-recyclable into net income

Actuarial gains and losses -42.6 16.1 -26.5 65.5 -22.1 43.4

INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNIZED DIRECTLY 
IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (A) -97.0 16.9 -80.2 330.1 -38.3 291.8

Net income for the period (B) -313.2 142.8

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNIZED 
FOR THE PERIOD (A)+(B) -393.4 434.6

Attributable to:

shareholders of Wendel■ -492.4 277.6

non-controlling interests■ 99.1 157.0

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated statements.
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Changes in shareholders’ equity4

In millions of euros outstanding

Number of
shares Share

capital miums

Share
pre- Treasury

shares reserves

earnings &
other

Retained

adjust-
ments

Currency
translation

Group
share interests

Non-
controlling

equity

share-
holders’

Total

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS OF 
DECEMBER 31, 2014 46,034,587 191.2 23.2 -157.9 2,485.7 -78.7 2,463.5 628.9 3,092.4

Income and expenses recognized directly 
in shareholders’ equity (A) - - - 54.4 87.9 142.2 -14.8 127.4

Net income for the period (B) -146.2 - -146.2 170.7 24.5

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 
RECOGNIZED DURING THE PERIOD (A)+(B) (1) - - - -91.9 87.9 -4.0 155.9 151.9

Dividends paid (2) -92.6 -92.6 -146.6 -239.2

Movements in treasury shares -201,353 -45.4 -45.4 - -45.4

Capital increase

exercise of stock options■ 177,745 0.7 7.0 7.7 - 7.7

company savings plan■ 18,250 0.1 1.5 1.6 - 1.6

Share-based payments 16.2 16.2 11.8 27.9

Changes in scope of consolidation 671.5 6.0 677.5 522.7 1,200.2

Other -38.5 -4.0 -42.5 -200.1 -242.6

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS 
OF DECEMBER 31, 2015 46,029,229 192.0 31.7 -203.3 2,950.3 11.2 2,982.0 972.5 3,954.5

Income and expenses recognized directly 
in shareholders’ equity (A) - - - -25.8 -41.6 -67.4 -12.8 -80.2

Net income for the period (B) -425.1 - -425.1 111.9 -313.2

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 
RECOGNIZED DURING THE PERIOD (A)+(B) (1) - - - -450.8 -41.6 -492.4 99.1 -393.4

Dividends paid (2) -98.7 -98.7 -158.7 -257.4

Treasury shares -290,721 -29.5 -29.5 -29.5

Capital increase

exercise of stock options■ 17,850 0.1 1.5 1.6 1.6

(incl. equity-method investments)
Share-based payment: stock options 

11.0 11.0 9.6 20.6

Changes in scope of consolidation -7.2 -1.8 -9.0 -2.0 -10.9

Other 9.5 -14.2 -4.7 1.7 -3.0

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS 
OF JUNE 30, 2016 45,756,358 192.0 33.2 -232.8 2,414.1 -46.4 2,360.2 922.2 3,282.4

See “Statement of comprehensive income.”(1)
In H1 2016, Wendel paid a dividend of €2.15 per share, for a total of €98.7 million. In 2015, Wendel paid a dividend of €2 per share, for a total of (2)
€92.6 million.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement5

In millions of euros Note 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income -313.2 142.8
Share of net income/loss from equity-method investments 306.0 -89.9
Net income from discontinued operations and operations held for sale -80.3 -
Depreciation, amortization, provisions and other non-cash items 252.7 279.2
Expenses on investments and divestments 48.4 4.8
Cash flow from operations held for sale or to be recognized using the equity method 50.5 -
Gains/losses on divestments 1.1 3.4
Financial income and expense 312.8 195.6
Taxes (current & deferred) 114.7 111.2
Cash flow from consolidated companies before tax 692.7 647.1
Change in working capital requirement related to operating activities -232.9 -169.0

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES, EXCLUDING TAX 5 459.8 478.2
Cash flows from investing activities, excluding tax
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets 20 -129.3 -311.9
Disposal of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets 10.5 43.9
Acquisition of equity investments 21 -174.2 -1,680.3
Disposal of equity investments 22 1,401.0 975.1
Impact of changes in scope of consolidation and of operations held for sale 23 -21.8 55.7
Changes in other financial assets and liabilities and other 24 -5.5 -143.8
Dividends received from equity-method investments and unconsolidated companies 25 45.8 0.7
Change in working capital requirements related to investment activities -35.2 -10.6

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES, EXCLUDING TAX 5 1,091.3 -1,071.1
Cash flows from financing activities, excluding tax
Proceeds from issuance of shares 1.6 4.4
Contribution of non-controlling shareholders 0.8 244.5
Share buybacks:

Wendel■ -29.5 -1.6
Subsidiaries■ -20.3 -23.3

Dividends paid by Wendel -98.7 -92.6
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries -147.8 -138.1
New borrowings 26 695.2 2,252.3
Repayment of borrowings 26 -1,133.9 -972.2
Net finance costs -220.5 -179.5
Other financial income/expense -8.3 -91.3
Change in working capital requirements related to financing activities -52.5 -12.3

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES, EXCLUDING TAX 5 -1,014.0 990.4
Cash flows related to taxes
Current tax expense -132.6 -139.3
Change in tax assets and liabilities (excl. deferred taxes) -1.0 11.1

NET CASH FLOWS RELATED TO TAXES 5 -133.6 -128.2
Effect of currency fluctuations -5.4 20.6
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 398.1 289.8
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,223.2 1,193.0

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 5 AND 8 1,621.3 1,482.9
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June 30, 2016 was reclassified to “Impact of changes in scope of
consolidation and of operations held for sale.”

the merger agreement described in note 2 “Changes in scope of
consolidation.” Only the cash balance of €38.8 million as of

The cash flows of AlliedBarton have been retained within each of

the equity method,” i.e. the closing date closest to the signing of

the cash flow line items up until June 30, 2016, the date on which
the entity was reclassified to “Operations to be recognized using

operations held for sale as of December 31, 2015, were retained
within each of the cash flow line items for H1 2015.

The cash flows of Parcours, which was reclassified under

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the
consolidated statements.



“Equity-method investments”).
This percentage does not include the co-investors’ share, which must be recorded in the Group share in accordance with IFRS (see note 7(2)

percentage includes the shares held by Materis managers and former managers that might be repurchased in the context of the liquidity offered to
them in 2016 (see note 27-6 “Shareholder agreements and co-investment mechanisms”).

This is the percentage held from a legal point of view. For consolidation purposes, Materis has been consolidated with a holding of 90%. This(1)
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General principles6

Supervisory Board, governed by European and French legislative
and regulatory provisions that are or will be in force. The Company

Wendel is a European company with an Executive Board and a

is registered in the Paris Company Register (Registre du commerce
et des sociétés) under number 572 174 035. Its head office is
located at 89, rue Taitbout, Paris, France.

development.

Its business consists in investing for the long term in industrial and
service companies, in order to accelerate their growth and

of:
As of June 30, 2016, the Wendel Group was composed principally

operations held for sale”;

Technologies (98.4%), Nippon Oil Pump (97.7%) and Parcours,
classified in 2015 and 2016 under “Assets and liabilities of

equity method” as of June 30, 2016, and the companies held by
Oranje-Nassau Développement: Mecatherm (99.2%), CSP

Constantia Flexibles (60.5%), AlliedBarton, which is classified under
“Assets and liabilities of operations to be recognized using the

of treasury shares), Materis (84.5%) (1), composed in turn of the
holding companies Materis and Cromology, Stahl (75.3%),

fully-consolidated operating companies: Bureau Veritas (40.6% net■

Oranje-Nassau Développement; and

operating companies recognized using equity method:■
Saint-Gobain (6.5% net of treasury shares), IHS (25.6%) (2), and
exceet (28.4% net of treasury shares), which is held by

Wendel and its fully consolidated holding companies.■

statements cover the six-month period from January 1 to June 30,
2016 and are expressed in millions of euros. They include:

The Wendel Group condensed consolidated first-half financial

the balance sheet (statement of financial position);■
the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income;■

the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity;■
the cash flow statement; and■
the notes to the financial statements.■

Each accounting item in these financial statements includes the

individual performance using relevant aggregate accounting data
for their respective business activities.

independently under the responsibility of its own executive
management. It is therefore important to consider subsidiaries’

contribution of all of the Group’s fully consolidated companies.
However, each of Wendel’s subsidiary companies is managed

Liquidity Risk.”

fully-consolidated subsidiaries, and of Wendel and its holding
companies, are presented individually in note 4-2 “Managing

sheet, and cash flow statement. Summarized information for
equity-method investments is set out in note 7 “Equity-method

contribution of each subsidiary to the income statement, balance

operating subsidiaries”). The debt positions of the

operating subsidiaries or from the operating subsidiaries to
Wendel and its holding companies (see note 4-2.2, “Liquidity risk of

details recurring net income by business activity and non-recurring
net income. There is no financial recourse between the different

investments.” An analysis of the Group’s overall performance by
business activity is provided in note 5 “Segment information,” which

Aggregate data for each fully-consolidated subsidiary are
presented in note 5 “Segment information,” which shows the

These financial statements were adopted by Wendel’s Executive
Board on August 30, 2016.
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Notes

Notes7

Accounting principlesNOTE 1

2016 under number D.16-0308.

conjunction with the financial statements for the 2015 fiscal year
included in the registration document filed with the AMF on April 8,

Financial Reporting.” These financial statements should be read in

This set of consolidated financial statements for the first half of
2016 has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 “Interim

preparing the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2015. They correspond to the International

became mandatory for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1,
2016, these accounting principles are the same as those used in

With the exception of the new standards and interpretations that

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union,
which are available on the European Commission’s website:

“http://ec.europa.eu/finance/accounting/ias/index_en.htm.”

follows:

The Group has adopted standards and texts applicable from the
fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2016. These amendments are as

Amendment to IAS 1 “Disclosure Initiative”;■
Amendment to IAS 19 “Employee contributions and discount rates”;■

and “Intangible assets – Revaluation method";
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, “Property, plant & equipment”■

Amendment to IFRS 11 “Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in■
Joint Operations.”

These had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements for the first half of 2016.
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Notes

Changes in scope of consolidationNOTE 2

under “General principles.”
The scope of consolidation of the Wendel Group is presented

Disposal of the Parcours Group Note 2-1
(long-term vehicle leasing to corporate 
customers)

April 2011.

Wendel’s total investment (cash on cash); i.e. a capital gain of
€129.3 million on its investment and an IRR of around 18% since

amounted to €240.7 million. This corresponds to about 2.2x

Under the transaction, Parcour’s equity was measured at
€300 million. Net proceeds from the sale for the Wendel Group

On May 3, 2016, the Group finalized the sale of the Parcours Group
to ALD Automotive, a subsidiary of the Société Générale Group.

also reclassified to this item.

€3.5 million and the capital gain to €78.3 million. The contribution
of Parcours to net income in H1 2015 presented for comparison was

the end of amortization, net income for the period came to

Parcour’s net income was consolidated in “Net income of operations

net gain from this divestment was recognized under this same item
in the income statement in the amount of €38.9 million. Excluding

the discontinuation of depreciation in accordance with IFRS 5
“Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations.” The

held for sale” until April 30, 2016, the closing date of Parcours
closest to the date of the sale, for an amount of €42.9 million, after

For information, net sales generated by Parcours in 2015 amounted
to €374 million and income from ordinary activities before tax came
to €28 million.

distribution of building materials)

Investment in Saint-Gobain Note 2-2
(production, transformation and 

unchanged: three out of 16 seats on the Board of Directors, one
seat on the Financial Statements Committee, one seat on the

of the share capital, for a net amount of €1,155 million. Wendel's
representation on Saint-Gobain’s governing bodies remains

At the beginning of May 2016, the Group sold 30 million
Saint-Gobain shares (of which 10 million to Saint-Gobain), or 5.3%

between Wendel and Saint-Gobain, published on May 26, 2011,
remain unchanged and in effect until 2021. They govern the

Strategic Committee and one seat on the Appointments,
Compensation and Governance Committee. The agreements

its investment by the equity method. The loss on sale of
€229.6 million (net of selling costs) was recognized under “Net

voting rights of Saint-Gobain. Wendel therefore maintains
significant influence over Saint-Gobain and continues to account for

ensure, in particular, that Wendel will have three seats on
Saint-Gobain’s Board so long as it holds more than 10% of the

principles and objectives of their long-term cooperation and

income from equity-method investments.”

€500 million, exchangeable for 9,619,085 Saint-Gobain shares at an
In parallel with the transaction, bonds were issued in the amount of

liquidity risk”).
exchange price of €51.98 per share (see note 4-2 “Managing

interest in Saint-Gobain changed as a result of:
In addition, during the first half of 2016, Wendel’s percentage

the capital increase reserved for employees;■
the exercise of stock options; and■
treasury share sales and buybacks.■

These factors led to a non-material increase of 0.1% in the Wendel
Group’s stake in Saint-Gobain.

Saint-Gobain shares, representing 6.5% of the capital (net of
treasury shares) and 11.1% of the voting rights.

As of June 30, 2016, the Wendel Group held 35,812,635

Merger of AlliedBarton and Universal Note 2-3
Services of America (security services)

August 1, 2016.

influence the Group has over Allied Universal, the newly merged
entity, it will be consolidated using the equity method from

received approximately $387 million in cash. Due to the significant

On May 3, 2016, the AlliedBarton Group announced its intention to
merge with Universal Services of America to create the leading

thanks to its investment in AlliedBarton Security Services, Wendel
now jointly controls Allied Universal with a stake of around 33% and

security group in North America. The merger was completed on
August 1, 2016. Following the transaction (after the reporting date),

provides state-of-the-art technology solutions to its clients through
both local and national services. Combined net sales of Allied

With around 140,000 qualified employees, Allied Universal

Universal came to approximately $4.5 billion.

operations to be recognized using the equity method.” In the cash

June 30, 2016, the date on which this division was reclassified as an
operation to be recognized using the equity method.

flow statement, the cash balance of the AlliedBarton Group was
reclassified to “Impact of changes in scope of consolidation” at

of operations to be recognized using the equity method” in
H1 2016. Likewise, the contribution to the balance sheet at June 30,

contribution of the AlliedBarton Group to Wendel’s consolidated
net income is therefore reclassified to the single item “Net income

AlliedBarton, which was under exclusive control, and an investment
in Allied Universal under joint-control (equity method). The

May 3, 2016. This standard applies because, from an accounting
point of view, this transaction corresponds to a disposal of

2016 is recognized under two separate items: “Assets of operations
to be recognized using the equity method” and “Liabilities of

2016, the closing date closest to the signing of the agreement of
IFRS 5 was applied to the investment in AlliedBarton at June 30,
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amount to be recognized following the merger.

An expense of €44.8 million was recognized for this transaction,
which will be offset in the second half by a capital gain of the same

associates

Principal changes in scope of Note 2-4
consolidation of subsidiaries and 

Changes in scope of consolidation of Note 2-4.1
the Bureau Veritas Group (compliance 
evaluation and certification services)

During the first half of 2016, Bureau Veritas carried out the
following acquisitions:

Management) regulatory compliance and fire safety, and
engineering services;

HCD Group, a British company specializing in building audits,■
technical assistance for CDM (Construction, Design and

(“Chongqing Liansheng”), a Chinese company, specializing in
regulatory technical supervision for construction projects;

Chongqing Liansheng Construction Project Management Co., Ltd.■

providing monitoring services to ensure the integrity of the
agricultural and food produce;

Dairy Technical Services (“DTS”), an Australian company that is a■
partner to numerous Australian companies in the agri-food industry,

industry (prevention and post-claim);

TMC Marine Ltd., an English global advisory and engineering firm■
specializing in consultancy and support services for the marine

VEO Standards Technical Service Co. Ltd. (“VEO”), a compliance■
audit firm in the automotive industry in China; and

Summit Inspection Services Inc., a US company specializing in■
fugitive emission inspection services, particularly for operations in
the petrochemical industry.

companies acquired in the first half of 2016 totaled approximately
€105 million.

recognized on these companies was €85.8 million (incl. €27 million
for Chongqing Liansheng). 2015 annual net sales for the

The total acquisition price was €131.8 million and the total goodwill

the Constantia Flexibles Group (flexible 
packaging)

Changes in scope of consolidation of Note 2-4.2

The Constantia Flexibles Group consolidated Afripack and Pemara,
acquired end-2015, from January 1, 2016. The equity investments
of these companies were classified as non-current financial assets
as of December 31, 2015.

market and for export to other African countries.
solutions for the agri-food industry as well as labels for the local

Afripack is the second-largest flexible packaging company in
sub-Saharan Africa. The company produces flexible packaging

also a leader in digital printing solutions.

labels and in mold labeling, which forms an integral part of the
packaging of the product, as well as leaflet labels. This company is

The Australian firm Pemara Labels Group produces self-adhesive

Net sales of these two companies in 2015 totaled approximately
€108 million for Afripack and €34 million for Pemara.

totaled €33.9 million.
Total provisional goodwill generated by both of these acquisitions

Changes in scope of consolidation of Note 2-4.3
the CSP Technologies Group 
(high-performance plastics packaging)

In March 2016, the CSP Technologies Group announced the
acquisition of US group Maxwell Chase Technologies, specialized

generated net sales of €15 million in 2015.

in the production of absorbent and non-absorbent packaging
solutions for the agri-food industry. Maxwell Chase Technologies

€20.3 million.
Provisional goodwill arising from this acquisition totaled

€27.2 million.
supplementary investment in CSP Technologies for an amount of
As part of the financing of this acquisition, Wendel made a



Condensed consolidated financial statements H1 2016

14 WENDEL - Consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2016

Notes

Related partiesNOTE 3

Wendel’s related parties are:

equity method;
Saint-Gobain, exceet and IHS, which are recognized using the■

and
the members of Wendel’s Executive Board and Supervisory Board;■

Wendel-Participations, which is the Group’s control structure.■

sold during the period, 10 million were bought back by
Saint-Gobain (see note 2 “Changes in scope of consolidation”).

During H1 2016, Wendel received €44.4 million in dividends from
Saint-Gobain. In addition, of the 30 million Saint-Gobain shares

including €37.2 million to Wendel-Participations.
In June 2016, the Group paid a dividend of €2.15 per share,

statements), the management team (including the Executive Board)
has co-invested 0.5% of the additional amounts invested by the

participate in Group investments (see note 4, “Participation of
managers in Group investments” in the 2015 consolidated financial

In accordance with the policy of encouraging Wendel managers to

Group in CSP Technologies during H1 2016 (see note 2, “Changes
in scope of consolidation”).

amount to €9.7 million (20% of the co-investment was made by the
Chairman of the Executive Board and 13.33% by the other member

Wendel will have met the minimum return conditions, the share
attributable to some 20 co-investors involved is expected to

be unwound at the end of H2 2016 as a result of its disposal in
May 2016 (see note 2 “Changes in scope of consolidation”). Since

to Parcours (see note 4, “Participation of managers in Group
investments” in the 2015 consolidated financial statements), it will

of the Executive Board). 

Furthermore, in accordance with the co-investment rules applicable

transactions with related parties as detailed in note 3, “Related
parties” to the 2015 consolidated financial statements.

There were no other significant changes during the period in
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Managing financial risksNOTE 4

The management of financial risks (equity, liquidity, interest-rate,
credit, currency and raw materials risks) is presented in note 5 to
the 2015 consolidated financial statements. The principal financial
risks as of June 30, 2016 are described in the following notes:

Equity market riskNote 4-1

Equity market risk relates chiefly to:

investments”);
“fair value” (see the impairment tests in note 7, “Equity-method

including, and depending on the case, the discount rate used in
calculating “value in use” or the market price used in calculating

consolidated and equity-method shares, whose “recoverable■
values” used for impairment tests are based on market parameters,

at €107 million, compared with €113 million as of end-2015 (see
note 9, “Financial assets and liabilities”);

statement only in the event of divestment. As of June 30, 2016, the
net carrying amount of these securities was revalued through equity

the Saham shares are recorded as financial assets and recognized at■

income statement. This charge can be reversed through the income

there is a decline in value that is considered to be significant or
lasting, in which case an impairment charge is recognized in the

valuation, in particular the multiples of peer-group companies.
Changes in value are recorded within shareholders’ equity unless

their fair value. Their value is subject to changes in this company’s
business and in the benchmark companies used to determine its

which would be recognized largely in the income statement;
impact of about +/-€3 million on the value of these investments,

any change in their fair value is recognized on the income
statement. A +/-5% variation in the equity markets would have an

of which was €60 million as of end-June 2016. A large proportion of
these investments is classified under current financial assets, and

financial investments indexed to the equity markets, the total value■

Saint-Gobain shares issued in H1 2016 (see note 4-2, “Managing
liquidity risk”). As of June 30, 2016, this component was valued at

the optional component (call option) of bonds exchangeable for■

€51.98 per share, and Saint-Gobain’s closing price was €34.36 per

income of €3.5 million in H1 2016. Sensitivity to the Saint-Gobain
share price was weak as of June 30, 2016 (the exchange price is

fair value in liabilities in the amount of €12.5 million after taking into
account a value adjustment that resulted in the recognition of

-/+ €4 million in profit or loss;
share): a +/-5% variation in the share price would have an impact of

the covenants under Wendel’s syndicated credit facility. These■

covenants;

financial statements, “Managing liquidity risk.” As of June 30, 2016,
this facility was undrawn and Wendel was in compliance with these

covenants are based on ratios of financial debt to the value of
assets, and are described in note 4-2 to the 2015 consolidated

Poor’s, which has been mandated by Wendel to rate its financial
structure and bond issues.

financing (and, in some cases, bank financing), which Wendel may
seek to access. This indicator is also monitored by Standard &

companies (i.e. net debt/assets), a key indicator of the cost of bond
the degree of financial leverage of Wendel and its holding■
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In millions of euros
(Group 
share)

Net book 
value 

price)
share 

value 
(closing 

Market 

a 5% decline in 
share prices

Impact on 
market value of 

sheet 
note

Balance 

Impact on net income

of a
+/-5%

prices

change
in share

cash flows

applied to the
value of future

change in
discount rate

of a +/-0.5%
perpetual

future cash
flows

calculate
discounted

growth rate
used to

of a +/-0.5%
change in

normative
margin used to

postbusiness-
plan periods

discount cash
flows in

of a 1%
reduction in the

Equity-method investments

Saint-Gobain 1,599.0 1,230.3 -61.5 7 N/A (1) +48/-159 +48/-116 -242

IHS (excl. co-investors’ share) 533.2 N/A N/A 7 N/A N/A (2) N/A (2) N/A (2)

Oranje-Nassau 
Développement – exceet 32.0 14.0 -0.7 7 N/A (1) +0/-0 (3) +0/-0 (3) 0 (3)

Consolidated investments

Bureau Veritas 829.7 3,367.2 -168.4 6 0 N/A (5) N/A (5) N/A 5)

Materis (Cromology) -309.3 N/A N/A 6

Shareholder loan (4) 421.3

  112.0 N/A N/A (5) N/A (5) N/A (5)

Stahl 140.6 N/A N/A 6 N/A N/A (5) N/A (5) N/A (5)

Constantia Flexibles 532.0 N/A N/A 6 N/A N/A (5) N/A (5) N/A (5)

AlliedBarton 548.3 N/A N/A N/A N/A (5) N/A (5) N/A (5)

Oranje-Nassau Développement

Mecatherm■ 83.7 N/A N/A 6 N/A N/A (5) N/A (5) N/A (5)

CSP Technologies■ 188.1 N/A N/A 6 N/A N/A (5) N/A (5) N/A (5)

Nippon Oil Pump■ 29.3 N/A N/A 6 N/A N/A (5) N/A (5) N/A (5)

Financial assets

Investment in Saham (6) 106.7 N/A N/A 9 N/A N/A N/A N/A

indexed to the equity markets
Short-term financial investments 

60.4 60.4 -3.0 +/-3.0 N/A N/A N/A

Financial liabilities

shares

Optional component of bonds 
exchangeable for Saint-Gobain 

-12.5 -12.5 +4 9 -/+4 N/A N/A N/A

Impairment tests are based on value in use (discounted future cash flows). See note 7, “Equity-method investments.”(1)
No testing was performed on IHS, as there is no indication that its value is impaired.(2)
The impacts on exceet are not significant enough to warrant an adjustment of the accumulated impairment.(3)
Eliminated on consolidation.(4)
No indication of impairment was identified. Impairment testing will be performed at year-end in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.(5)
See note 9, “Financial assets and liabilities.”(6)

accounting nature. This accounting treatment is explained more
fully in note 7, “Equity-method investments.”

re-evaluation resulted in the recognition of an expense of
€40.8 million over the period. The impact is purely of an

value of this liability is recognized on the income statement. As of

June 30, 2016, this liability amounted to €219.7 million. ItsIn addition, accounting standards require that the IHS shares in
which the co-investors have invested through a co-investment

liability equal to the fair value of these shares. The change in fair

vehicle controlled by Wendel be recognized as equity-method
investments. As an offset, Wendel must recognize a financial
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Managing liquidity riskNote 4-2

companies
Wendel’s liquidity risk and its holding Note 4-2.1

from subsidiaries and associates.

operating expenses and dividends. These needs are covered by
asset rotation, bank and bond financing, and by dividends received

Wendel needs cash to make investments, service debt and pay

Cash and short-term financial investments as of 1.
June 30, 2016

by Wendel and its holding companies (excluding operating
subsidiaries) were as follows:

As of June 30, 2016, cash and short-term financial investments held

In millions of euros Denominated in € Denominated in $ Total

Money-market mutual funds 987 24 1,011

Bank accounts and bank certificates of deposit 185 31 216

Diversified, equity and bond funds (1) 32 -  32

Funds managed by financial institutions (1) 272 -  272

TOTAL 1,476 55 1,531

Classified under “Other current financial assets.”(1)

Debt position as of June 30, 20162.

Saint-Gobain shares) in a total amount of €3,648 million. Gross
debt was down significantly compared with December 31, 2015,

As of June 30, 2016, gross debt (excluding operating subsidiaries)
consisted of Wendel bonds (including bonds exchangeable for

4.5 years was stable compared with end-2015.

when it was €4,136 million. Maturities are spread between
August 2017 and February 2027, and the average maturity of

June 30, 2016, and were composed of:
Available undrawn lines of credit totaled €1,150 million as of

and covenants”); and

covenants (see note 5-2.4 to the 2015 consolidated financial
statements, “Wendel’s syndicated credit facility – documentation

a €650 million syndicated line of credit maturing in■
November 2019. Wendel is in compliance with all financial

disposal of assets over the period (see note 2, “Changes in scope
of consolidation”).

canceled in H1 2016 because it no longer had a purpose after the

bank debt with activation of guarantees (Saint-Gobain shares,■

statements, “Bank financing with activation of guarantees”). The
€350 million line of credit maturing in 2019 was intentionally

Bureau Veritas shares or cash) totaling €500 million, maturing in
March 2020 (see note 5-2 to the 2015 consolidated financial

to take advantage of investment opportunities.

These lines of credit enable Wendel to secure the repayment, if
necessary, of the closest maturities and to have enough flexibility

optional component was remeasured at fair value through profit or
loss at €12.5 million.

of call options on Saint-Gobain shares), recorded as a financial
liability in the amount of €16 million. As of June 30, 2016 the

issue helped advantageously refinance a large portion of the
May 2016 maturity of €644 million, which had a coupon of 4.875%.

primarily in the event of the Saint-Gobain share price being higher
than the exchange price of €51.98 per share. This zero-coupon

issued. Wendel would then have the option of delivering the
securities or their counter-value in cash. This option would be used

Bondholders have the right to exchange them for 9,619,085
Saint-Gobain shares, covering the total €500 million in bonds

At the date of issue, this bond is recognized by separating the
debt component estimated at €484 million, recognized using the
effective interest rate method, and the optional component (sale

Concurrently with the sale of the block of Saint-Gobain shares (see

€500 million. These zero-coupon bonds mature in July 2019.

note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation”), Wendel issued
bonds exchangeable for Saint-Gobain shares in the amount of

“Changes in scope of consolidation”) also allowed the redemption
of the August 2017 bond and the 2019 bond (par value of

The significant amount of cash received following the disposals of
the block of Saint-Gobain shares and Parcours (see note 2,

€57.6 million and €286.5 million respectively). These redemptions
helped partially anticipate the repayment of these bonds with
short residual maturities and higher coupons (4.375% and 5.875%

negative amount of €56.6 million.

respectively). The difference between the redemption price and
the par value was recognized in the income statement in the

use of derivatives (cross-currency swaps) in H1 2016.

note 4.5, “Managing currency risk”), €800 million of bond debt was
synthetically converted into dollar-denominated debt through the

Moreover, in the context of currency risk management (see
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investment grade rating of BBB-, with a stable outlook. The
short-term rating is A-3.

On July 5, 2016, Standard & Poor’s confirmed Wendel’s long-term

Wendel’s liquidity outlook3.

given its high level of cash and short-term financial investments,
and its available undrawn lines of credit.

August 2017 bond in the amount of €634 million. Wendel’s
liquidity risk over the 12 months following the reporting date is low

The next significant financial maturity is the repayment of the

Liquidity risk of operating subsidiariesNote 4-2.2

The management of each operating subsidiary is responsible for
managing the cash, debt, and liquidity risk of that entity.

of all the constraints to which Wendel is subject, including return
on investment, Wendel’s own liquidity, additional investment in

impact on Wendel’s liquidity via the amount of dividends they pay
to Wendel. Similarly, changes in the economic and financial

covenants governing Mecatherm’s bank debt. Changes in the
economic and financial situation of subsidiaries can also have an

of June 2016) and provided a €15 million guarantee to
Mecatherm’s lenders in return for the easing of the financial

other subsidiaries, and new investments. In this context, Wendel
extended a €15 million liquidity line to Mecatherm (fully drawn as

support undertakings. As a result, Wendel’s liquidity would only be
affected if Wendel decided to contribute cash to an operating

to support operating subsidiaries experiencing cash flow
difficulties. Similarly, subsidiaries are not bound by any mutual

such, the liquidity risk of these subsidiaries affects Wendel only
when Wendel chooses to accept it. Wendel has no legal obligation

Debt of operating subsidiaries is without recourse to Wendel. As

subsidiary. Such a decision would result from an in-depth analysis

into account in calculating Wendel’s financial leverage (see
note 4.1, “Equity market risk”).

situation of subsidiaries have an impact on their value; this is taken

covenants

Financial debt of operating Note 4-2.3
subsidiaries – documentation and 

Bureau Veritas’ financial debt1.
This debt is without recourse to Wendel.

commercial paper program).

Veritas also has a confirmed line of credit of €410 million (available
amount of €450 million less the €40 million raised on the

€2,391.2 million, and its cash balance was €212.7 million. Bureau
As of June 30, 2016, Bureau Veritas’ gross financial debt was

The same financial covenants as those in force as of December 31,
 2015 apply. These covenants were met as of June 30, 2016:

be greater than 5.5;

interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) for the last
12 months of any acquired entity to the amount of net interest must

the ratio of consolidated adjusted EBITDA (earnings before■

3.25.
the ratio of net consolidated debt to EBITDA must not be less than■

Cromology’s financial debt2.
This debt is without recourse to Wendel.

As of June 30, 2015, Cromology’s bank debt was €292.7 million
(including accrued interest, and excluding deferred issuance costs
and the shareholder loan). Its cash balance was €23.0 million. As of
that date, the bank debt was subject to the following covenants:

and
is calculated on a rolling 12-month basis, and is tested quarterly;

adjusted LTM EBITDA divided by net cash interest expense must■
be greater than 2.30 (this minimum rises to 2.70 in 2018). This ratio

adjusted LTM EBITDA must be less than 5.74 (this ceiling declines
to 3.75 in 2019). The test is performed quarterly.

consolidated net debt (excluding shareholder loan) divided by■

These covenants were met as of June 30, 2016.

The documentation related to this debt contains the standard

debt, and payment of dividends are prohibited, restricted, or
require the prior approval of the lenders.

restrictions for this type of credit facility. Certain transactions, such
as asset divestments, granting collateral, acquisitions, additional
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Stahl’s financial debt3.
This debt is without recourse to Wendel.

costs). Its cash balance was €36.4 million. As of that date, the
covenants were as follows:

As of June 30, 2016, the face value of Stahl’s gross bank debt was
€247.2 million (including accrued interest, and excluding issuance

12-month basis, and is tested quarterly; and

the ratio of LTM EBITDA to net interest expense paid must be■
greater than or equal to 6.00. This ratio is calculated on a rolling

This ratio is tested quarterly.

the ratio of consolidated net debt to LTM EBITDA must be less than■
or equal to 2.54 (this ceiling falls to 2.00 on December 31, 2016).

These covenants were met as of June 30, 2016.

as mergers, asset divestments, granting collateral, acquisitions,
additional debt, payment of dividends, share buybacks, or

The documentation related to Stahl’s debt contains the standard
restrictions for this type of credit facility. Certain transactions, such

changes in ownership structure are prohibited, restricted, or
require prior approval of the lenders.

Constantia Flexibles’ financial debt4.
This debt is without recourse to Wendel.

June 30, 2016). In such cases, the ratio of net debt to LTM EBITDA
must be less than 6.7. This covenant was met as of June 30, 2016.

debt is only subject to a financial covenant when more than 35% of
the revolving line of credit is drawn (which was not the case as of

bank debt was €1,348.5 million (including accrued interest, and
excluding issuance costs). Its cash balance was €84.7 million. Bank

As of June 30, 2016, the face value of Constantia Flexibles’ gross

restricted, or require prior approval of the lenders.

collateral, acquisitions, additional debt, payment of dividends,
share buybacks, or changes in ownership structure are prohibited,

The documentation related to Constantia Flexibles’ debt contains
the standard restrictions for this type of credit facility. Certain
transactions, such as mergers, asset divestments, granting

Mecatherm’s financial debt5.

discounting and a €15 million liquidity line granted by Wendel,
and excluding issuance costs). Its cash balance was €1.1 million.

As of June 30, 2016, the face value of Mecatherm’s gross financial
debt was €53.6 million (including accrued interest, non-recourse

corporate needs, while also extending a €15 million first-demand
guarantee to the lending banks to cover the servicing of

Wendel granted Mecatherm a €15 million liquidity line (fully drawn
as of end-June 2016) to enable the company to finance its general

suspend covenant testing until operating income is above a
certain threshold defined by contract. As part of this agreement,

Given the particularly volatile economic environment of
recent years, Mecatherm and its bank lenders have agreed to

Mecatherm’s bank debt. The recourse of Mecatherm’s bank
lenders to the Wendel Group is limited to this guarantee.

CSP Technologies’ financial debt6.
This debt is without recourse to Wendel.

$5.4 million, or €4.9 million. As of that date, the covenants were as
follows:

bank debt was $185.2 million, or €166.8 million (including accrued
interest, and excluding issuance costs). Its cash balance was

As of June 30, 2016, the face value of CSP Technologies’ gross

and is tested quarterly; and

the ratio of LTM EBITDA to net interest expense must be greater■
than or equal to 2.25 (this minimum ratio rises to 2.5 from
March 2019). This ratio is calculated on a rolling 12-month basis,

the ratio of consolidated net debt (gross debt less cash capped at■

quarterly.

$10.5 million) to LTM EBITDA must be less than or equal to 6.25
(this maximum ratio falls to 4 from September 2020). It is tested

These covenants were met as of June 30, 2016.

restricted, or require prior approval of the lenders.
share buybacks, or changes in ownership structure are prohibited,

transactions, such as mergers, asset divestments, granting
collateral, acquisitions, additional debt, payment of dividends,

The documentation related to CSP Technologies’ debt contains
the standard restrictions for this type of credit facility. Certain

Nippon Oil Pump’s financial debt7.
This debt is without recourse to Wendel.

will be amortized between now and 2019, and two-thirds are
repayable at maturity in 2019.

bank debt was JPY 4.3 billion (€37.4 million). Its cash balance was
JPY 0.7 billion (€6.5 million). Around one-third of this bank debt

As of end-June 2016, the face value of Nippon Oil Pump’s gross

The financial covenants specify a minimum level of shareholders’

2015, when the annual test was performed.

equity and stipulate that net income cannot be negative for two
consecutive years. These covenants were met as of December 31,
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Managing interest-rate riskNote 4-3

AlliedBarton, which was classified under operations to be recognized using the equity method) had only limited exposure to interest rate risk.
As of June 30, 2016, the Wendel Group (Wendel, its holding companies, and fully consolidated operating subsidiaries, except for

In billions of euros Fixed rate Capped rate Floating rate

Gross debt 5.7 2.5

Cash and short-term financial investments -0.3 -1.7

Impact of derivatives 0.0 0.9 -1.0

INTEREST-RATE EXPOSURE 5.4 0.9 -0.1

  87% 15% -2%

The notional amount of derivative instruments is weighted by the

they will hedge interest-rate risk.
portion of the 12 months following June 30, 2016 during which

of June 30, 2016, interest rates raised from that date and taking
the 12 months following June 30, 2016 (assumptions: net debt as
around €6 million on the financial income/expense before tax in
Group’s interest rate exposure is indexed would have an impact of
A variation of +100 basis points in the interest rates to which the

interest rate risk).
into account the maturities of derivative instruments hedging the

Managing credit riskNote 4-4

in trade receivables.
diversification, there was no significant concentration of credit risk
date, owing to the Group’s geographical and sectoral
non-payment exists are subject to write-down. As of the closing
customer credit risk, and the receivables for which a risk of
Each operating subsidiary has set up a policy to monitor its

risk”), significant amounts could be placed with the same financial

financial institutions.
institution. Derivative contracts are entered into with top-ranking

companies are placed essentially with top-ranking financial
The cash and financial investments of Wendel and its holding

investments as of June 30, 2016 (see note 4-2, “Managing liquidity
institutions. Given the high amount of cash and short-term financial

Managing currency riskNote 4-5

WendelNote 4-5.1

impact of around €3 million in profit or loss.
value of the US dollar against the euro would have a negative

strategy, which notably involves investing in North America. These
amount denominated in US dollars is related to the Group’s
financial investments and cash denominated in US dollars. The
As of June 30, 2016, Wendel held €55 million in short-term

financial assets are recognized at fair value. A 5% decline in the

Constantia Flexibles and AlliedBarton.
to the US dollar are Bureau Veritas, Stahl, IHS, CSP Technologies,
notably the US dollar. The subsidiaries with the greatest exposure
derive a share of their earnings in currencies other than the euro,
Certain subsidiaries operate in several countries, and as a result,
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cross-currency swaps. 

in February and March 2016. This will limit the impact of changes
€800 million in euro-dollar cross-currency swaps were established
that currency synthetically, through the use of derivatives. As such,

a negative impact of €42 million in equity in respect of
increase in the value of the US dollar against the euro would have
recognized in equity (impact of €3.2 million in H1 2016). A 5%
value related to change in the euro-dollar exchange rate are
investment hedges for accounting purposes. Thus, changes in fair
These instruments, carried at fair value, have been qualified as net
in the euro-dollar exchange rate on the Group’s net asset value.

dollar, Wendel has decided to convert part of its bond debt into
Owing to the exposure of part of the Group’s assets to the US

Bureau VeritasNote 4-5.2

risk of fluctuations in the value of various foreign currencies, although
Bureau Veritas operates internationally, and is therefore exposed to the

revenues of many entities where services are provided locally.
natural hedges may exist by virtue of the matching of the costs and

fluctuations in the US currency.
that currency. This revenue is therefore indirectly exposed to
revenue is denominated in US dollars or influenced by the level of
For Bureau Veritas’ activities exposed to global markets, part of

€1 million) during the same period.
and an impact of 0.2% on its operating income (i.e. less than
consolidated net sales in H1 2016 (i.e. approximately €4 million),

Kong dollar), 9.9% in Chinese yuan, 4.1% in sterling, 3.8% in
or other currencies correlated to the US dollar (including the Hong
functional currency was not the euro, of which 19.1% in US dollars
the consolidation of the financial statements of entities whose
In H1 2016, more than 70% of Bureau Veritas’ sales resulted from

have had an impact of around 0.2% on Bureau Veritas’
against the US dollar and the currencies correlated to it would
of Bureau Veritas’ net sales. Accordingly, a 1% variation in the euro
reals. No other currency individually accounted for more than 3%
Canadian dollars, 3.3% in Australian dollars and 3.1% in Brazilian

CromologyNote 4-5.3

available locally is not material.
contribution to Cromology’s operating income. In addition, cash
income is not expected to be significant given Argentina’s limited
revenue. However, the impact on Cromology’s 2016 operating
by inflation locally) and economic difficulties that affected 2016
was accompanied by a devaluation of around 39% (partially offset

inflation and changes in exchange rates are currently focused on
Cromology has subsidiaries in Morocco and Argentina. Risks of

floating exchange rate for the Argentine peso in December 2015
compared with 2015, at current exchange rates. The shift to a
H1 2016 (less than 5% of consolidated net sales), down 29%

Argentina, where the Group generated sales of €17 million in

StahlNote 4-5.4

expenses), or +/-€3 million.
amortization (excluding goodwill allocation and non-recurring
2016 income from ordinary activities before impairment and
the euro would have had an impact of around +/-3.8% on Stahl’s
fluctuation in the US dollar, or in currencies correlated to it, against
yuan, 7% in Indian rupees and 5% in Brazilian real. A +/-5%
other than the euro, of which 33% in US dollars, 7% in Chinese
In H1 2016, 58% of Stahl’s sales were generated in currencies

income/expenses.

the euro. Therefore, in the event of a +/-5% fluctuation in the
US dollars and carried by a company whose functional currency is
Moreover, a €184 million portion of Stahl’s debt is denominated in

-/+€9 million would be recognized in net finance
dollar’s value against the euro, a currency impact of about

CSP TechnologiesNote 4-5.5

of the US dollar against the euro would have had an impact of less
sales are generated in that currency. A +/-5% variation in the value
with the US dollar as its functional currency. Around 74% of its
The CSP Technologies Group is mainly based in the United States,

in Wendel’s euro-denominated financial statements.
than +/-€1 million on the H1 2016 income from ordinary activities

appreciate/depreciate.
loss/gain of €2 million if the US dollar were to
the CSP Technologies Group could generate an accounting
An intra-group loan between the US and European companies in

is no impact on the income statement.
dollars. Moreover, as its functional currency is the US dollar, there
The CSP Technologies Group’s debt is denominated entirely in US
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Constantia FlexiblesNote 4-5.6

+/-€2.0 million.
allocation and non-recurring expenses), i.e. an impact of less than
before depreciation and amortization (excluding goodwill
Constantia Flexibles’ H1 2016 income from ordinary activities
against the euro would have had an impact of around +/-1.3% on
+/-5% fluctuation in the US dollar, or in currencies correlated to it,
currencies other than the euro, of which 18% in US dollars. A
In H1 2016, 40% of Constantia Flexibles’ sales were generated in

finance income/expenses.

functional currency is the euro. Therefore, a +/-5% fluctuation in
denominated in US dollars and carried by a company whose
Moreover, a €202 million portion of Constantia Flexibles’ debt is

recognition of a currency impact of about -/+€10 million in net
the US dollar’s value against the euro would result in the

Managing raw materials riskNote 4-6

Constantia Flexibles.
changes in raw material prices are Cromology, Stahl and
The Group’s investments with the greatest exposure to the risk of

of its products would offset the overall effect of such raw material
circumstances permitting, a short-term increase in the sales price

formulations for its products.
purchases by approving new suppliers, and by developing new
price increases. Cromology continually works to optimize its

increase in the cost of these raw materials of around €7 million on
materials used by Cromology would have resulted in a theoretical
€69 million in H1 2016. A 10% increase in the price of the raw
Cromology’s raw material purchases represented approximately

a half-year basis. Cromology nevertheless considers that,

Stahl did not enter into any contracts to hedge changes in raw
would offset the overall effect of such raw material price increases.
permitting, a short-term increase in the sales price of its products

material prices in H1 2016.

a half-year basis. Stahl nevertheless considers that, circumstances
increase in the cost of these raw materials of around €15 million on
materials used by Stahl would have resulted in a theoretical
€152 million in H1 2016. A 10% increase in the price of the raw
Stahl’s raw material purchases represented approximately

overall effect of such increases in the short term.
an increase in the sales price of its products would offset the
through hedging contracts. Moreover, the company believes that
a policy of protecting itself against fluctuations in aluminum prices
of around €49 million on a half-year basis. Constantia Flexibles has
resulted in a theoretical increase in the cost of these raw materials
price of the raw materials used by Constantia Flexibles would have
approximately €491 million in H1 2016. A 10% increase in the
Constantia Flexibles’ raw material purchases represented
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Segment informationNOTE 5

items and effects related to goodwill.
between “net income from operating segments,” non-recurring
The analysis of the income statement by operating segment is split

Net income from operating segments

impact of goodwill, as defined below:
holding companies and excludes non-recurring items and the
income. It consists of net income from investments and from
Net income from operating segments is the Group’s “recurring”

“Net income from investments” is defined as the net income of■

investments recognized using the equity method (Saint-Gobain and
Développement) and Wendel’s share in the net income of
Parcours, sold in May 2016, held by Oranje-Nassau
well as Mecatherm, CSP Technologies, Nippon Oil Pump and
Veritas, Cromology, Stahl, Constantia Flexibles and AlliedBarton, as
companies under exclusive control (full consolidation: Bureau

before non-recurring items and the impact of goodwill allocation;
IHS, as well as exceet, held by Oranje-Nassau Développement)

operating subsidiaries).
companies (excluding acquisition holding companies and
level of Wendel and all of its consolidated financial holding
with these items. The amounts shown are those recognized at the
holding companies, and the tax expense and income connected
cost of the net borrowings put in place to finance Wendel and its
administrative expenses of Wendel and its holding companies, the
the net income of holding companies incorporates the general and■

Non-recurring income

or ordinary activities of subsidiaries and associates or to the
consolidation, the net after-tax amounts not linked to the operating
“Non-recurring income” includes, for the entire scope of

recurring operations of Wendel and its holding companies:

capital gains and losses from the divestment of assets;■
restructuring costs considered exceptional;■

operating activities;
exceptional legal disputes, notably those that are not linked to■

impact on the tax to be paid;
these items is considered recurring inasmuch as it has a structural
to a settlement in cash prior to divestment. The tax impact related to
the subsidiaries and associates. These items do not usually give rise
linked to the structure of the financial instruments used to invest in
interest income and expenses on shareholder loans, as these are■

changes in “fair value”;■

goodwill;
impairment losses on assets, and in particular on the value of■

currency impact on financial liabilities;■
financial restructuring expenses and the income and expenses■
related to extinguishing debt;

operations of the Group.
any other significant item unconnected with the recurring■

Impact of goodwill allocation

after the transaction). The affected items are primarily:
acquisition (or from changes to these valuations within 12 months
revaluation of assets and liabilities carried out at the time of the
The impact of goodwill on the income statement derives from the

inventories and work-in-progress;■
property, plant & equipment;■
intangible assets, including brands and contracts;■
the related deferred taxes.■

not their business activities).
accounting entries relate to the companies’ acquisition prices and
from the business activity of those companies (because the
disconnecting the income statement from the cash flows deriving
These accounting items modify net income from investments by
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Income statement by operating segment for H1 2016Note 5-1

In millions of euros Veritas
 Bureau Allied-

Barton 

 Cons-

Flexibles
tantia

logy 
Cromo-

 Stahl
Dévelop-

Nassau
Oranje-

pement 

investments
Equity-method 

companies
holding

 Wendel &

total
 Group

Gobain
Saint-

IHS

Net income from business sectors
Net sales 2,221.4 - 1,024.3 375.9 330.7 139.7 - 4,091.9
EBITDA (1) N/A - 143.2 36.0 79.5 N/A - N/A
Adjusted operating income (1) 350.5 - 92.1 19.3 70.2 21.5 -
Other recurring operating items - -1.1 -1.3 -0.9 -3.2 -1.1
Operating income 350.5 -1.1 90.8 18.5 67.0 20.4 -28.7 517.4
Finance costs, net -42.3 - -38.0 -8.9 -4.2 -7.6 -98.9 -199.9
Other financial income and expense -1.1 - -1.3 -0.4 - -0.2 -3.1
Tax expense -106.3 - -16.2 2.2 -18.2 -3.4 -2.8 -144.6

of equity-method investments
Share in net income 

0.4 - - - - -0.1 56.6 -13.5 - 43.4

and operations held for sale
Net income from discontinued operations 

- -  - - - 4.2 - - - 4.2

using the equity method
Net income of operations to be recognized 

- 18.2 - - - -  - - - 18.2

BUSINESS SECTORS
RECURRING NET INCOME FROM 

201.2 17.1 35.4 11.4 44.6 13.2 56.6 -13.5 -130.3 235.6

non-controlling interests
Recurring net income from business sectors – 

122.6 0.9 16.7 1.0 10.6 0.1 - -0.1 - 151.8

BUSINESS SECTORS – GROUP SHARE
RECURRING NET INCOME FROM 

78.6 16.3 18.7 10.3 34.0 13.0 56.6 -13.4 -130.3 83.7
Non-recurring income

Operating income -46.9 - -34.4 -7.1 -12.0 -9.3 - - -22.8 (3) -132.5
Net financial expense - - -2.1 -32.9 3.5 - - - -78.3 -109.8
Tax expense 12.7 - 9.9 1.7 2.0 3.6 - - - 29.9

equity-method investments
Share in net income of 

- - - - - -3.8 -4.3 -111.8 -229.6 (4) -349.5

and operations held for sale
Net income from discontinued operations 

- - - - - -0.6 - - 78.1 (5) 77.5

using the equity method
Net income of operations to be recognized 

- -64.4 - - - - - - - -64.4

NON-RECURRING NET INCOME -34.3 -64.4 -26.6 -38.2 -6.5 -10.1 -4.3 -111.8 -252.6 -548.8
of which:

Non-recurring items■ -11.4 -50.7 (2) -4.2 -37.8 -0.3 -1.5 -0.5 -111.8 (6) -252.6 -470.8
Impact of goodwill allocation■ -22.9 -13.7 -22.4 -0.4 -6.1 -6.2 -1.4 - - -73.2
Asset impairment■ - - - - - -2.4 -2.4 - - -4.8

non-controlling interests
Non-recurring net income – 

-20.4 -3.2 -10.5 -3.8 -1.3 -0.1 - -0.6 -0.1 -40.0

GROUP SHARE
NON-RECURRING NET INCOME – 

-13.9 -61.2 -16.1 -34.4 -5.1 -10.0 -4.3 -111.2 -252.5 -508.8

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME 166.9 -47.3 8.8 -26.9 38.1 3.0 52.3 -125.3 -383.0 -313.2
Consolidated net income – non-controlling interests 102.2 -2.4 6.2 -2.8 9.2 - - -0.6 -0.1 111.9

GROUP SHARE
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME – 

64.7 -44.9 2.6 -24.1 28.9 3.0 52.3 -124.6 -382.9 -425.1

Before the impact of goodwill allocation, non-recurring items and management fees.(1)

scope of consolidation”), which will be offset in H2 by a gain of the same amount following the merger.
This item includes an expense of €44.8 million related to the merger between AlliedBarton and Universal Services of America (see note 2, “Changes in (2)

agreements and co-investment mechanisms”).
This item comprises an expense related to the liquidity rights of co-investors in the subsidiaries in the amount of €21.1 million (see note 27-6, “Shareholder (3)

This negative amount of €229.6 million is related to the disposal of Saint-Gobain shares (see note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation”).(4)
The item includes the disposading the discontinuation of depreciation as of June 30, 2016 (see note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation”).(5)

currency translation reserves.
This item consists chiefly of a currency loss (see note 7, “Equity-method investments”), which is, moreover, offset by a change of the same amount in (6)
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The contribution of Oranje-Nassau Développement to the H1 2016 income statement by operating segment broke down as follows:

In millions of euros Parcours (2) Mecatherm Technologies
CSP

Pump
Nippon Oil

exceet Développement
Oranje-Nassau 

Net income from business sectors
Net sales - 62.1 56.1 21.5 - 139.7
EBITDA (1) N/A 7.4 N/A 3.4 - N/A
Adjusted operating income (1) N/A 6.5 12.5 2.5 - 21.5
Other recurring operating items -0.1 -0.3 -0.7 -0.1 - -1.1
Operating income -0.1 6.2 11.9 2.4 - 20.4
Finance costs, net - -0.9 -6.6 -0.2 - -7.6
Other financial income and expense - -0.2 - -0.1 - -0.2

management fees
Pre-tax income, including 

-0.1 N/A N/A N/A -
Tax expense - -0.5 -2.2 -0.7 - -3.4

equity-method investments
Share in net income of 

- - - - -0.1 -0.1

and operations held for sale
Net income from discontinued operations 

4.2 - - - - 4.2

BUSINESS SECTORS
RECURRING NET INCOME FROM 

4.1 4.7 3.1 1.5 -0.1 13.2

non-controlling interests
Recurring net income from business sectors – 

- - - - - -

BUSINESS SECTORS – GROUP SHARE
RECURRING NET INCOME FROM 

4.1 4.6 3.0 1.4 -0.1 13.0
Non-recurring income

Operating income - -0.9 -7.1 -1.3 - -9.3
Net financial expense - - - - - -0.0
Tax expense - 0.3 2.8 0.5 - 3.6

equity-method investments
Share in net income of 

- - - - -3.8 -3.8

and operations held for sale
Net income from discontinued operations 

-0.6 - - - - -0.6

NON-RECURRING NET INCOME -0.6 -0.6 -4.3 -0.8 -3.8 -10.1
of which:

Non-recurring items■ -0.2 -0.1 -1.0 - -0.1 -1.5
Impact of goodwill allocation■ -0.4 -0.4 -3.3 -0.8 -1.2 -6.2
Asset impairment■ - - - - -2.4 -2.4

non-controlling interests
Non-recurring net income – 

- - -0.1 - - -0.1

GROUP SHARE
NON-RECURRING NET INCOME – 

-0.6 -0.6 -4.3 -0.8 -3.8 -10.0

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME 3.4 4.1 -1.3 0.6 -3.9 3.0

non-controlling interests
Consolidated net income – 

- - - - - -

GROUP SHARE
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME – 

3.4 4.1 -1.2 0.6 -3.9 3.0

Before the impact of goodwill allocation, non-recurring items and management fees.(1)

“Changes in scope of consolidation”), the offsetting entry of this adjustment being recognized in income from the sale of this investment.
The result of Parcours reflected in the economic presentation of income excludes the discontinuation of depreciation, pursuant to IFRS 5 (see note 2, (2)
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Income statement by operating segment for H1 2015Note 5-2

In millions of euros Veritas
Bureau

Flexibles
tantia
Cons-

Cromo-
logy Stahl pement

Dévelop-
Nassau
Oranje- investments

Equity-method 
&

Wendel

panies
com-

holding

Total
Group

Gobain
Saint-

IHS

Net income from business sectors
Net sales 2,318.7 485.6 383.8 (2) 317.9 96.8 - 3,602.7
EBITDA (1) N/A 67.1 36.6 (2) 64.1 N/A N/A
Adjusted operating income (1) 370.3 44.1 22.0 56.6 -4.2 488.8
Other recurring operating items - -0.5 -0.9 -3.0 -1.0
Operating income 370.3 43.6 21.1 53.6 -5.2 -31.0 452.4
Finance costs, net -39.2 -20.1 -9.3 -5.1 -7.0 -97.5 -178.2
Other financial income and expense -8.4 0.4 -2.2 6.7 -0.3 -3.8
Tax expense -115.6 -6.4 -1.6 -14.2 -2.4 -3.9 -144.1
Share in net income of equity-method investments 0.4 - - - -0.4 72.2 -5.9 - 66.3

and operations held for sale
Net income from discontinued operations 

- - - - 8.2 - - - 8.2

BUSINESS SECTORS
RECURRING NET INCOME FROM 

207.4 17.5 8.0 41.0 -7.1 72.2 -5.9 -132.4 200.8

non-controlling interests
Recurring net income from business sectors - 

120.1 6.8 0.8 11.4 - - - - 139.1

BUSINESS SECTORS - GROUP SHARE
RECURRING NET INCOME FROM 

87.3 10.7 7.3 29.5 -7.1 72.2 -5.9 -132.4 61.7
Non-recurring income

Operating income -34.7 -26.1 -4.1 -11.3 -30.5 - - -1.7 -108.4
Net financial expense 0.0 -1.7 -29.4 -18.7 - - - 40.2 -9.7
Tax expense 9.5 6.6 0.8 16.2 4.4 - - -0.3 37.2
Share in net income of equity-method investments - - - - -18.3 78.6 -36.6 (3) - 23.7

and operations held for sale
Net income from discontinued operations 

- - - - -0.7 - - - -

NON-RECURRING NET INCOME -25.2 -21.2 -32.7 -13.8 -45.1 78.6 -36.6 38.1 -58.0
of which:

Non-recurring items■ -0.4 -6.6 -32.1 -8.1 -2.9 -20.8 -36.6 38.1 (4) -69.3
Impact of goodwill allocation■ -24.8 -14.6 -0.7 -5.7 -7.7 -3.6 - - -57.1
Asset impairment■ - - - - -34.5 103.0 (5) - - 68.5

Non-recurring net income - non-controlling interests -14.0 -7.1 -3.2 -3.8 -0.1 - -0.3 - -28.5

NON-RECURRING NET INCOME - GROUP SHARE -11.1 -14.1 -29.6 -9.9 -45.0 78.6 -36.4 38.1 -29.5

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME 182.2 -3.7 -24.7 27.2 -52.2 150.8 -42.5 -94.3 142.8
Consolidated net income - non-controlling interests 106.1 -0.3 -2.4 7.6 -0.1 - -0.3 0.0 110.6

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME - GROUP SHARE 76.2 -3.4 -22.3 19.6 -52.1 150.8 -42.3 -94.3 32.2

Before the impact of goodwill allocation, non-recurring items and management fees.(1)

reflected in adjusted operating income.
Sales and EBITDA of Cromology in H1 2015, excluding Materis holding company expenses. Holding company expenses totaled €0.9 million and were (2)

recognized on IHS.
This amount included a negative €54.7 million impact from exchange rate fluctuations on IHS’s financial debt and €18.1 million in dilution gains (3)

This item notably included a €28.4 million gain on disposal of Saint-Gobain put options.(4)

€203 million had also been recognized on Saint-Gobain securities.
The Wendel Group had recognized a provision of €97 million for the loss anticipated on the sale of Verallia. Moreover, a provision for impairment of (5)
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The contribution of Oranje-Nassau Développement to the H1 2015 income statement by operating segment broke down as follows:

In millions of euros Parcours Mecatherm Technologies
CSP

Pump
Nippon Oil

exceet Développement
Oranje-Nassau

Net income from business sectors

Net sales - 38.4 38.5 19.9 - 96.8

EBITDA (1) - -9.3 N/A 2.0 - N/A

Adjusted operating income (1) - -10.2 4.8 1.2 - -4.2

Other recurring operating items -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -0.1 - -1.0

Operating income -0.1 -10.4 4.2 1.1 - -5.2

Finance costs, net - -1.1 -5.6 -0.2 - -7.0

Other financial income and expense - -0.1 -0.2 0.0 - -0.3

Tax expense - -1.0 -1.1 -0.3 - -2.4

equity-method investments
Share in net income of 

- - - - -0.4 -0.4

and operations held for sale
Net income from discontinued operations 

8.2 - - - - 8.2

RECURRING NET INCOME FROM 
BUSINESS SECTORS 8.1 -12.7 -2.7 0.6 -0.4 -7.1

Recurring net income from business sectors – 
non-controlling interests 0.1 -0.1 - - - -

RECURRING NET INCOME FROM 
BUSINESS SECTORS – GROUP SHARE 8.0 -12.6 -2.7 0.6 -0.4 -7.1

Non-recurring income

Operating income - -20.9 -8.5 -1.2 - -30.5

Net financial expense - - - - - -

Tax expense - 0.9 3.1 0.4 - 4.4

equity-method investments
Share in net income of 

- - - - -18.3 -18.3

and operations held for sale
Net income from discontinued operations 

-0.7 - - - - -0.7

NON-RECURRING NET INCOME -0.7 -20.0 -5.4 -0.7 -18.3 -45.1

of which:

Non-recurring items■ 0.0 -1.3 -0.8 -0.0 -0.8 -2.9

Impact of goodwill allocation■ -0.8 -0.4 -4.6 -0.7 -1.2 -7.8

Asset impairment■ - -18.3 - - -16.2 -34.5

non-controlling interests
Non-recurring net income – 

- - -0.1 - - -0.1

NON-RECURRING NET INCOME – 
GROUP SHARE -0.7 -20.0 -5.3 -0.7 -18.3 -45.0

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME 7.3 -32.6 -8.1 -0.1 -18.7 -52.2

non-controlling interests
Consolidated net income – 

0.1 -0.1 -0.1 - - -0.1

GROUP SHARE
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME – 

7.2 -32.5 -8.0 -0.1 -18.7 -52.1

Before the impact of goodwill allocation, non-recurring items and management fees.(1)
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Balance sheet by operating segment as of June 30, 2016Note 5-3

In millions of euros
Bureau
Veritas

Allied-
Barton

tantia
Flexibles

Cons-

Cromology Stahl
Oranje-Nassau

Développement
Saint-

Gobain IHS
com-

panies

Wendel &
holding

Total
Group

Goodwill, net 2,255.4 - 752.5 204.9 53.7 277.0 - - - 3,543.5
Intangible assets, net 882.1 - 835.6 209.1 94.5 219.5 - - 0.1 2,240.8
Property, plant & equipment, net 497.0 - 760.7 85.9 134.6 85.8 - - 13.5 1,577.5
Non-current financial assets 77.0 - 33.3 6.2 0.4 2.8 - - 233.7 353.4
Pledged cash and 
cash equivalents - - - - - 0.2 - - 0.5 0.7
Equity-method investments 4.8 - 1.1 1.1 - 32.0 1,599.0 535.8 - 2,173.8
Deferred tax assets 151.2 - 13.1 29.8 15.0 0.0 - - 0.9 210.0
Total non-current assets 3,867.6 - 2,396.3 537.1 298.1 617.2 1,599.0 535.8 248.5 10,099.7

held for sale
Assets and operations 

4.4 37.5 - 1.9 - - - - 43.7
Assets of operations 
to be recognized using 
the equity method - 1,751.0 - - - - - - - 1,751.0
Inventories and 
work-in-progress 18.3 - 282.7 102.7 92.2 44.4 - - - 540.2
Trade receivables 1,322.5 - 242.2 180.0 134.1 69.3 - - 0.2 1,948.2
Other current assets 155.5 - 53.4 57.4 19.3 7.7 - - 8.2 301.5
Current income tax assets 44.2 - 8.5 - 12.3 0.5 - - 0.1 65.7
Other current financial assets 74.1 - 4.3 - 0.0 1.4 - - 331.8 411.7
Cash and cash equivalents 212.7 - 84.7 31.0 36.4 12.5 - - 1,243.2 1,620.6
Total current assets 1,827.4 - 675.7 371.0 294.4 135.7 - - 1,583.6 4,887.9

TOTAL ASSETS 16,782.3

Shareholders’ equity – 
Group share 2,360.2
Non-controlling interests 922.2
Total shareholders’ equity 3,282.4
Long-term provisions 312.4 - 67.3 39.3 19.8 12.7 - - 22.0 473.5
Financial debt 
(non-current portion) 1,761.1 - 1,120.1 338.3 192.4 198.4 - - 3,650.8 7,261.2
Other non-current financial 
liabilities 82.9 - 106.5 1.5 - 6.2 - - 530.5 727.6
Deferred tax liabilities 232.6 - 274.3 134.3 16.1 71.2 - - 0.4 728.8
Total non-current liabilities 2,389.0 - 1,568.2 513.3 228.3 288.5 - - 4,203.8 9,191.1
Liabilities held for sale 0.0 11.4 - - - - - - 11.4
Liabilities of operations 
to be recognized using 
the equity method - 1,169.8 - - - - - - - 1,169.8
Short-term provisions - - 58.2 0.7 0.1 7.1 - - - 66.1
Financial debt (current portion) 630.1 - 181.3 3.1 49.7 33.9 - - 66.3 964.4
Other current financial liabilities 157.7 - 7.5 - 0.9 - - - 103.4 269.5
Trade payables 299.0 - 310.2 118.5 71.2 23.1 - - 8.8 830.8
Other current liabilities 618.3 - 76.3 104.8 45.6 43.2 - - 17.9 906.1 (1)

Current income tax liabilities 60.5 - 21.5 - 7.1 1.3 - - 0.2 90.7
Total current liabilities 1,765.6 - 655.0 227.2 174.6 108.6 - - 196.7 3,127.6

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 16,782.3

In the six months to June 30, 2016, this amount included deferred revenue of €146 million.(1)
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As of June 30, 2016, the contribution of Oranje-Nassau Développement to the balance sheet by operating segment broke down as follows:

In millions of euros Mecatherm
CSP

Technologies
Nippon Oil

Pump exceet
Oranje-Nassau

Développement

Goodwill, net 84.1 173.2 19.7 - 277.0

Intangible assets, net 66.5 124.2 28.8 - 219.5

Property, plant & equipment, net 5.8 66.1 13.8 - 85.8

Non-current financial assets 0.6 0.3 1.9 - 2.8

Pledged cash and cash equivalents - 0.2 - - 0.2

Equity-method investments - - - 32.0 32.0

Deferred tax assets - 0.0 - - 0.0

Total non-current assets 157.1 364.0 64.2 32.0 617.2

Assets and operations held for sale - - - - -

Inventories and work-in-progress 11.6 23.7 9.1 - 44.4

Trade receivables 36.8 15.7 16.8 - 69.3

Other current assets 5.2 2.3 0.2 - 7.7

Current income tax assets 0.3 0.1 0.0 - 0.5

Other current financial assets - 1.4 - - 1.4

Cash and cash equivalents 1.1 4.9 6.5 - 12.5

Total current assets 55.1 48.1 32.5 - 135.7

Long-term provisions 4.3 0.2 8.2 - 12.7

Financial debt (non-current portion) 22.7 142.4 33.3 - 198.4

Other non-current financial liabilities 1.0 4.3 1.0 - 6.2

Deferred tax liabilities 20.1 40.7 10.4 - 71.2

Total non-current liabilities 48.1 187.5 52.9 - 288.5

Liabilities held for sale - - - - -

Short-term provisions 7.1 0.0 - - 7.1

Financial debt (current portion) 15.0 15.0 3.9 - 33.9

Other current financial liabilities - - - - -

Trade payables 13.8 4.0 5.3 - 23.1

Other current liabilities 26.2 13.5 3.5 - 43.2

Current income tax liabilities - 0.2 1.1 - 1.3

Total current liabilities 62.0 32.7 13.8 - 108.6
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Balance sheet by operating segment as of December 31, 2015Note 5-4

In millions of euros
Bureau
Veritas

Allied-
Barton

Cons-
tantia

Flexibles Cromology Stahl Développement
Oranje-Nassau Saint-

Gobain IHS

Wendel &
holding

com-
panies

Group
Total

Goodwill, net 2,172.4 902.5 713.1 205.0 53.6 258.5 - - - 4,305.0

Intangible assets, net 826.9 518.9 855.7 209.8 95.4 198.5 - - 0.1 2,705.3

Property, plant & equipment, net 497.9 6.8 759.8 91.7 139.8 83.1 - - 13.7 1,592.7

Non-current financial assets 76.6 43.4 103.8 6.1 1.6 2.5 - - 235.6 469.6

equivalents
Pledged cash and cash 

- 33.9 - - - 0.2 - - 0.5 34.6

Equity-method investments 4.8 - - 1.1 - 36.6 3,014.4 669.9 - 3,726.8

Deferred tax assets 137.2 - 8.9 28.2 21.5 0.2 - - 0.9 196.8

Total non-current assets 3,715.7 1,505.4 2,441.3 541.8 311.9 579.6 3,014.4 669.9 250.7 13,030.8

held for sale
Assets and operations 

6.6 - - - 1.6 962.5 - - - 970.8

Inventories and 
work-in-progress 18.3 - 253.2 88.5 81.9 44.0 - - - 485.8

Trade receivables 1,228.9 284.5 203.9 147.9 116.3 62.3 - - 0.1 2,044.0

Other current assets 127.0 11.0 51.9 42.4 18.1 6.7 - - 7.4 264.5

Current income tax assets 45.5 - 8.4 5.0 13.8 0.3 - - 0.0 73.1

Other current financial assets 61.7 - 1.4 - 0.1 0.0 - - 358.1 421.3

Cash and cash equivalents 522.9 4.3 63.9 32.8 77.8 14.0 - - 472.9 1,188.6

Total current assets 2,004.4 299.8 582.6 316.6 308.1 127.4 - - 838.5 4,477.3

TOTAL ASSETS 18,478.9

Group share
Shareholders’ equity – 

2,982.0

Non-controlling interests 972.5

Total shareholders’ equity 3,954.5

Long-term provisions 282.2 19.2 65.6 34.2 19.6 10.7 - - 22.0 453.4

Financial debt 
(non-current portion) 2,311.0 872.3 1,231.6 314.6 210.6 204.6 - - 3,516.1 8,660.9

Other non-current financial 
liabilities 52.1 61.8 98.2 1.2 0.1 9.4 - - 525.7 748.4

Deferred tax liabilities 220.7 - 280.4 139.9 18.4 62.2 - - 0.4 722.0

Total non-current liabilities 2,865.9 953.3 1,675.8 489.9 248.7 286.8 - - 4,064.2 10,584.6

Liabilities held for sale 1.8 - - - - 792.6 - - - 794.3

Short-term provisions - 68.0 57.4 0.7 0.2 9.8 - - - 136.0

Financial debt (current portion) 78.9 31.6 14.3 0.3 28.6 18.8 - - 737.8 910.3

Other current financial liabilities 118.7 0.8 42.1 - - - - - 23.1 184.6

Trade payables 302.5 45.1 245.8 97.0 68.8 21.2 - - 4.7 785.0

Other current liabilities 660.4 81.5 77.3 99.8 49.5 50.3 - - 15.6 1,034.3 (1)

Current income tax liabilities 72.1 0.0 17.4 - 4.7 0.8 - - 0.2 95.2

Total current liabilities 1,232.5 227.0 454.2 197.8 151.7 100.8 - - 781.3 3,145.4

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 

18,478.9

As of December 31, 2015 this amount included deferred revenue of €144.9 million.(1)
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As of December 31, 2015, the contribution of Oranje-Nassau Développement to the balance sheet by operating segment broke down as
follows:

In millions of euros Parcours Mecatherm Technologies
CSP Nippon Oil

Pump exceet
Oranje-Nassau

Développement

Goodwill, net - 84.1 157.3 17.2 - 258.5

Intangible assets, net - 67.5 104.7 26.3 - 198.5

Property, plant & equipment, net - 6.1 64.9 12.2 - 83.1

Non-current financial assets - 0.6 0.3 1.6 - 2.5

Pledged cash and cash equivalents - - 0.2 - - 0.2

Equity-method investments - - - - 36.6 36.6

Deferred tax assets - - 0.2 - - 0.2

Total non-current assets - 158.3 327.5 57.3 36.6 579.6

Assets and operations held for sale 962.5 - - - - 962.5

Inventories and work-in-progress - 12.2 24.4 7.4 - 44.0

Trade receivables - 34.0 14.0 14.3 - 62.3

Other current assets - 3.5 3.1 0.2 - 6.7

Current income tax assets - 0.3 - - - 0.3

Other current financial assets - - - - - -

Cash and cash equivalents - 5.2 3.4 5.4 - 14.0

Total current assets - 55.2 44.9 27.3 - 127.4

Long-term provisions - 4.1 0.2 6.5 - 11.0

Financial debt (non-current portion) - 27.5 146.4 30.7 - 204.6

Other non-current financial liabilities - 1.2 7.3 0.8 - 9.4

Deferred tax liabilities - 20.5 31.8 9.8 - 62.2

Total non-current liabilities - 53.3 185.7 47.8 - 286.8

Liabilities held for sale 792.6 - - - - 792.6

Short-term provisions - 9.7 0.0 - - 9.8

Financial debt (current portion) - 14.9 0.8 3.1 - 18.8

Other current financial liabilities - - - - - -

Trade payables - 11.1 5.4 4.7 - 21.2

Other current liabilities - 38.2 9.5 2.6 - 50.3

Current income tax liabilities - - 0.7 0.1 - 0.8

Total current liabilities - 73.9 16.4 10.5 - 100.8
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Cash flow statement by operating segment for H1 2016Note 5-5

In millions of euros
Bureau
Veritas Barton

Allied- Constantia
Flexibles Cromology Stahl

Oranje-Nassau
Développement

holding
companies

Wendel &
and

unallocated

Eliminations
Group

total

operating activities, 
excluding tax

Net cash flows from 

264.8 71.5 116.1 -4.6 40.9 5.2 -34.1 - 459.8

Net cash flows from 
investing activities, 
excluding tax -184.4 -61.6 -76.5 -10.1 -11.2 -45.3 1,632.1 -151.7 1,091.3

Net cash flows from 
financing activities, 
excluding tax -283.2 -44.4 -675.6 14.8 -62.9 35.5 -150.0 151.7 -1,014.0

Net cash flows related 
to taxes -102.4 -2.8 -13.6 -1.3 -7.6 1.2 -7.1 - -133.6

The contribution of Oranje-Nassau Développement to the H1 2016 cash flow statement by operating segment broke down as follows:

In millions of euros Parcours Mecatherm
CSP

Technologies
Nippon Oil

Pump
Oranje-Nassau

Développement

Net cash flows from operating activities, excluding tax - -9.3 11.2 3.3 5.2

Net cash flows from investing activities, excluding tax - -0.4 -43.7 -1.1 -45.3

Net cash flows from financing activities, excluding tax - 4.7 32.6 -1.7 35.5

Net cash flows related to taxes - 1.0 0.1 0.1 1.2
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Cash flow statement by operating segment for H1 2015Note 5-6

In millions of euros
Bureau
Veritas

Constantia
Flexibles Cromology Stahl

Oranje-Nassau
Développement

Wendel &
holding

companies

Eliminations
and

unallocated total
Group

Net cash flows from 
operating activities, 
excluding tax 322.5 52.1 -2.7 44.6 92.2 -30.6 - 478.2

Net cash flows from 
investing activities, 
excluding tax -144.1 -1,315.1 -10.9 -7.4 -323.7 816.1 -86.0 -1,071.1

financing activities, 
excluding tax

Net cash flows from 

-99.8 690.1 -15.4 -38.3 56.4 311.4 86.0 990.4

Net cash flows related to taxes -106.2 -10.7 -2.8 -8.1 -0.8 0.3 - -128.2

The contribution of Oranje-Nassau Développement to the H1 2015 cash flow statement by operating segment broke down as follows:

In millions of euros Parcours Mecatherm
CSP

Technologies
Nippon Oil

Pump Développement
Oranje-Nassau

Net cash flows from operating activities, excluding tax 89.3 -4.6 4.2 3.4 92.2

Net cash flows from investing activities, excluding tax -131.3 0.4 -192.1 -0.7 -323.7

Net cash flows from financing activities, excluding tax 44.8 4.4 8.4 -1.3 56.4

Net cash flows related to taxes 1.4 -1.3 -0.3 -0.6 -0.8
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GoodwillNOTE 6

  06/30/2016

In millions of euros Gross amount Impairment Net amount

Bureau Veritas 2,403.9 148.5 2,255.4

Constantia Flexibles 752.5 - 752.5

Cromology 404.5 199.6 204.9

Stahl 53.7 - 53.7

Oranje-Nassau Développement 295.2 18.3 277.0

TOTAL 3,909.7 366.3 3,543.5

  12/31/2015

In millions of euros Gross amount Impairment Net amount

Bureau Veritas 2,321.1 148.7 2,172.4

Constantia Flexibles 713.1 - 713.1

AlliedBarton 902.5 - 902.5

Cromology 404.6 199.7 205.0

Stahl 53.6 - 53.6

Oranje-Nassau Développement 276.7 18.3 258.5

TOTAL 4,671.6 366.6 4,305.0

The principal changes during the period were as follows:

In millions of euros 1st half 2016

Net amount at beginning of period 4,305.0

Business combinations (1) 144.2

Reclassification of AlliedBarton to “Operations to be recognized using the equity method” -885.0

Impact of changes in currency translation adjustments and other -20.7

NET AMOUNT AT END OF PERIOD 3,543.5

In H1 2016, this item includes notably acquisitions by Bureau Veritas, Constantia Flexibles and CSP Technologies in the amounts of €85.8 million, (1)
€38.9 million and €19.4 million respectively.
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Goodwill impairment testsNote 6-1

any indication that its value may be impaired, and at least once
per year on December 31 (see the Accounting principles section,
note 1-10.1, “Goodwill” of the 2015 consolidated financial
statements). The principal indicators of a loss in value are

adherence to the budget and business plan and for Bureau

In accordance with accounting standards, goodwill for each CGU
(Cash Generating Unit) is tested for impairment as soon as there is

Veritas, which is listed, market price compared with the carrying
value.

No indication of impairment was identified on the Group’s CGUs in
the six months to June 30, 2016. Testing will therefore be
performed at the year-end.

Equity-method investmentsNOTE 7

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Saint-Gobain 1,599.0 3,014.4

IHS 535.8 669.9

exceet 32.0 36.6

Investments of Constantia Flexibles 1.1 -

Investments of Bureau Veritas 4.8 4.8

Investments of Cromology 1.1 1.1

TOTAL 2,173.8 3,726.8

The change in equity-method investments broke down as follows:

In millions of euros 1st half 2016

Amount at beginning of period 3,726.8

Share in net income for the period

Saint-Gobain 52.3

IHS -125.3

exceet -3.9

Other 0.4

Dividends for the period -44.6

Impact of changes in currency translation adjustments -23.5

Divestments (1) -1,408.2

Impacts from changes in scope of consolidation 1.1

Other -1.5

AMOUNT AS OF JUNE 30, 2016 2,173.8

This relates to the sale of Saint-Gobain securities (see note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation”).(1)
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Additional information on Saint-GobainNote 7-1

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Carrying values at 100%

Total non-current assets 27,010 27,309

Total current assets 16,556 17,547

Impact of the revaluation of acquired assets and liabilities (Wendel) 3,746 3,760

Goodwill adjustment (Wendel) 2,878 2,870

Non-controlling interests 360 364

Total non-current liabilities 11,683 12,921

Total current liabilities 13,476 12,615

including cash and cash equivalents 2,900 5,380

including financial debt 9,524 10,177

  1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Net sales (1) 19,549 19,860

Operating income 1,368 1,275

Business income 1,156 1,080

Recurring net income – Group share 624 552

Net income from discontinued operations and operations held for sale – Group share - 69

Net income – Group share 596 558

Impact of the revaluation of acquired assets and liabilities -14 -31

In H1 2016, sales declined by 1.6%, but grew by 2.9% on an organic basis.(1)
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Additional information on IHSNote 7-2

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Carrying values at 100%

Total non-current assets 3,329.8 3,558.6

Total current assets 602.3 788.4

Goodwill adjustment (Wendel) 62.9 64.2

Non-controlling interests 56.3 190.7

Total non-current liabilities 1,825.5 1,764.7

Total current liabilities 328.5 224.4

including cash and cash equivalents 321.9 568.9

including financial debt 1,629.0 1,412.3

  1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Net sales 424.1 271.0

EBIT 101.2 31.6

Financial result, excluding foreign exchange -64.5 -27.0

Currency impact on financial liabilities (1) -704.3 -221.7

Net income – Group share -429.2 -180.6

The devaluation of the naira required the IHS Group to recognize a translation loss on the dollar-denominated debt on the books of Nigerian companies (1)
whose operating currency is the naira. These companies issued debt in dollars in particular because certain contract components are indexed to the dollar. 
Furthermore, this currency loss was offset by a change of the same amount in currency translation reserves.

first. This liquidation would result in the shares financed through
ultimately be liquidated, if no liquidity event for IHS shares occurs

(Wendel Group and the co-investors). The Group has no economic
the vehicle being distributed to each respective shareholder

rights to co-investors’ stakes in IHS and has no other obligation (or

proceeds and profits on the sale of shares financed by the
debt) with regard to co-investors apart from remitting the potential

the co-investors.
co-investors or, if the vehicle is liquidated, returning the shares to

In accordance with accounting standards, IHS shares held by

are presented as equity-method investments on Wendel’s
co-investors alongside Wendel through a co-investment vehicle

the divestment decisions for these shares. An offsetting financial
consolidated balance sheet, as the Group controls this vehicle and

liability must be recognized in the Group’s balance sheet for the

“Financial assets and liabilities”). This accounting treatment,
fair value of these shares (this liability is presented in note 9,

linked to the limited life of the co-investment vehicle, which will
particularly the recognition of the financial liability, is primarily

the value of IHS securities) economically accrue to the co-investors.
recognized as equity-method investments, €79.7 million (4.5% of
Of the total of €535.8 million (30.0% of the value of IHS securities)
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Additional information on exceetNote 7-3

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Carrying values at 100%

Total non-current assets 74.6 96.9

Total current assets 76.1 89.6

Assets from operations held for sale (1) 27.9 -

Impact of the revaluation of acquired assets and liabilities 19.9 23.1

Total non-current liabilities 53.0 55.2

Total current liabilities 20.2 25.8

Liabilities from operations held for sale (1) 13.0 -

including cash and cash equivalents 23.9 33.3

including financial debt 38.8 41.4

  1st half 2016 1st half 2015 restated(1)

Net sales (2) 65.4 69.1

EBITDA 3.5 3.6

Recurring net income – Group share -1.4 -4.9

Net income from discontinued operations and operations held for sale – Group share -9.1 -0.4

Net income – Group share -10.5 -5.3

Impact of the revaluation of acquired assets and liabilities -3.2 -3.2

operations held for sale” in 2015 and 2016.
In accordance with IFRS 5, the contribution of the activities of the IDMS division is presented by exceet in “Net income from discontinued operations and (1)

In H1 2016, sales declined by 5.3% as reported and by 4.1% on an organic basis.(2)
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investments
Impairment tests on equity-method Note 7-4

that the value of this investment may be impaired.
No impairment test was performed on IHS as there is no indication

picture has complicated forecasting, and actual amounts could
existing as of June 30, 2016. The uncertain global economic

these tests. If so, values in use may also be different from those
therefore be significantly different from the forecasts made under

June 30, 2016 balance sheet date.
determined on the basis of assumptions and estimates as of the

The tests described below are based on Wendel’s assessment of

well as information available at the reporting date on situations
the facts and circumstances existing at the balance sheet date, as

Impairment test on Saint-Gobain sharesNote 7-4.1

An impairment test was performed on the Saint-Gobain shares, as
their carrying amount, calculated according to the equity method,
was higher than their market value.

date (€34.36 per share, or €1,230.3 million for the 35.8 million
the higher of (1) fair value, i.e. the share price at the balance sheet

of future cash flows.
Saint-Gobain shares); and (2) value in use, i.e. the discounted value

In accordance with IAS 36, recoverable value was determined as

such as the acquisition of Schenker-Winkler Holding AG, which
IAS 36, the business plan did not include any strategic acquisitions,

of Sika, as this transaction was yet to be completed as of June 30,
holds 16.97% of the share capital and 52.92% of the voting rights

plan cash flows (i.e. growth in sales and normative profitability)
2016. Finally, the assumptions used in calculating post-business

were based on an analysis of the historical performances of
Saint-Gobain’s activities over more than 20 years.

five-year business plan used in this calculation was prepared by
Wendel has performed this discounted cash flow valuation. The

Wendel using, among other things, research on the sector

studies carried out by Wendel. The assumptions underlying the
published by leading forecasters, Wendel’s internal analyses and

were developed by sector and by country. In accordance with
business plan (trends in underlying markets, price effects, etc.)

market parameters (risk-free rate, market premium, beta of
at previous reporting dates, namely 8%. It was based notably on

plan.
comparables) and took into account risks specific to the business

The long-term growth rate applied to post-business plan cash

namely 2%. The discount rate used was also identical to that used
flows was the same as that used at previous reporting dates,

environment warrants an adjustment to the impairment provision.
significant new element bearing on Saint-Gobain or its

Impairment is therefore unchanged at €1.34 per share.

As of June 30, 2016, the gross carrying amount of Saint-Gobain

€1,646.9 million. The impairment recognized on Saint-Gobain
shares in Wendel’s financial statements was €45.99 per share or

carrying amount of the shares was €44.65 per share as of
shares was €1.34 per share, or €48 million. As such, the net

estimated as of June 30, 2015 was similar, at €44.99 per share. No
end-June 2016, i.e. €1,599 million for all shares. The value in use

Sensitivity analysis shows that:

if the discount rate were 0.5% higher, an additional impairment of■
€159 million would have to be recognized;

if the long-term growth rate were 0.5% lower, an additional■
impairment of €116 million would have to be recognized; or

to be recognized.

if the normative margin used for cash flows after the end of the■

point, an additional impairment charge of €242 million would have
five-year business plan period were reduced by one percentage
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the five-year business plan.
Finally, the model as a whole is also sensitive to the assumptions of

price reflects Wendel’s investment horizon and the significant
The difference between the net carrying value and the market

influence Wendel exerts over Saint-Gobain.

Impairment test on exceet sharesNote 7-4.2

shares, as their carrying value was higher than their market value.
An impairment test was performed on these equity-method

use, i.e. the discounted value of future cash flows.

the higher of (1) fair value, i.e. the share price at the balance sheet
In accordance with IAS 36, recoverable value was determined as

date (€14 million for the 5.7 million shares held), and (2) value in

i.e. €39.3 million for all shares held. 
Based on these assumptions, the value in use was €6.89 per share,

Wendel performed this discounted cash flow valuation. The business

IAS 36, no strategic acquisitions have been included in its
plan used covers an eight-year period, and in accordance with

post-business plan cash flows was 2% and the discount rate was 10%.
assumptions. As in 2015, the long-term growth rate applied to

per share, €39.3 million for all shares held) was greater than the

million for all shares held). The provision recorded in 2015 is
net carrying amount as of June 30, 2016 (€5.6 per share, i.e. €32

relating to exceet or its environment have emerged that would
maintained without adjustment since no significant new elements

justify its adjustment.

The recoverable value corresponding to the value in use (€6.89

Sensitivity analysis shows that:

in the event of a 0.5% increase in the discount rate;■
in the event of a 0.5% reduction in the long-term growth rate; or■

margin used for cash flows after the eight-year business plan,
in the event of a 1 percentage point reduction in the normative■

the value in use would still be slightly higher than the net carrying

recognized.
amount, meaning that no additional impairment would need to be

Cash and cash equivalentsNOTE 8

In millions of euros

06/30/2016

Net amount

12/31/2015

Net amount

Pledged cash and cash equivalents of Wendel and its holding companies, 
classified as non-current assets 0.5 0.5
Unpledged cash and cash equivalents of Wendel and its holding companies, 
classified as current assets 1,226.5 469.8
Cash and cash equivalents of Wendel and its holding companies (1) 1,227.0 470.3

classified as non-current assets
Pledged cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries and other holding companies, 

0.2 34.1

classified as current assets:
Unpledged cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries and other holding companies, 

Bureau Veritas 212.7 522.9
Constantia Flexibles 84.7 63.9
AlliedBarton - 4.3
Cromology 23.0 25.8
Stahl 36.4 77.8
Oranje-Nassau Développement 12.5 14.0
Other holding companies 24.7 10.1

Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries and other holding companies 394.3 752.9

TOTAL 1,621.3 1,223.2
of which non-current assets 0.7 34.6
of which current assets 1,620.6 1,188.6

In addition to this cash, Wendel had €303.9 million in short-term financial investments as of June 30, 2016 and €328.9 million as of December 31, 2015 (1)
(see note 4-2.1, “Wendel’s liquidity risk”).
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Receivables And Payables)
Financial Assets And Liabilities (Excluding Financial Debt And Operating NOTE 9

Financial assetsNote 9-1

In millions of euros Method for recognizing changes Level 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Pledged cash and cash equivalents of Wendel and its 
holding companies Income statement (1) 1 0.5 0.5

Unpledged cash and cash equivalents of Wendel and its 
holding companies Income statement (1) 1 1,226.5 469.8

Wendel’s short-term financial investments Income statement (1) 1 303.9 328.9

and its holding companies
Cash and short-term financial investments of Wendel 

  1,530.9 799.2

Pledged cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries Income statement (1) 1 0.2 34.1

Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries Income statement (1) 1 394.1 718.8

Assets available for sale - A Shareholders’ equity (2) 3 128.8 217.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Income statement (1) 1 25.7 28.8

Loans - B Amortized cost N/A 95.3 92.5

Deposits and guarantees Amortized cost N/A 83.2 78.4

Derivatives - C Income statement (1)/Sh. equity (2) See C 22.9 27.7

Other   105.5 117.4

TOTAL   2,387.2 2,114.1

of which non-current financial assets, including 
pledged cash and cash equivalents   354.1 504.2

of which current financial assets, including cash 
and cash equivalents   2,032.3 1,609.9

Change in fair value through profit or loss.(1)
Change in fair value through shareholders’ equity.(2)

Financial liabilitiesNote 9-2

In millions of euros Method for recognizing changes Level 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Derivatives - C Income statement (1)/Sh. equity (2) See C 47.0 14.2

subsidiaries - D
Minority puts, earn-outs and other financial liabilities of 

Income statement (1)/Sh. equity (2) 3 337.5 342.6

Wendel and holding companies - E
Minority puts, earn-outs and other financial liabilities of 

Income statement (1)/Sh. equity (2) 3 392.9 394.0

in IHS - F
Financial liabilities linked to the co-investment vehicle 

Income statement (1) 3 219.7 182.3

TOTAL   997.1 933.1

of which non-current financial liabilities   727.6 748.4

of which current financial liabilities   269.5 184.6

Change in fair value through profit or loss.(1)
Change in fair value through shareholders’ equity.(2)
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Details of financial assets and Note 9-3
liabilities

Saham Group. This group, based in Morocco and majority
– As of June 30, 2016, this item includes the investment inA 

owned by its founder, has two legacy businesses: insurance and

value of €107 million (€113 million as of December 31, 2015).
13.3% of the Saham Group’s share capital. It is carried at its fair
of real estate, health and education. This investment represents
customer relationship centers. It is also expanding in the fields

accounting policies.
losses on assets available for sale” in accordance with
the year is recorded in consolidated reserves in “Gains and
The €6 million reduction in fair value recognized during

– Loans: the total notably includes a loan granted to KerneosB 

This item also includes the debt of Sterigenics (world leader in
sterilization services), acquired in 2015, the face value of which
is $47 million. Due in 2023, the loan offers an annual coupon of
6.5%.

loan offers an annual return of 10.5%.

2014. As of June 30, 2016, the face value of this loan (after
capitalization of interest) was €47.3 million. Due in 2021, the

(leader in aluminate technology) when it was sold by Materis in

C – Derivatives:

In millions of euros   06/30/2016 12/31/2015

  Level Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

flows (1)
Interest rate swaps – hedging of cash 

2 - 5.6 4.3 -

Interest rate swaps – not qualifying for 
hedge accounting (1) 2 2.4 12.8 4.9 8.5

flows (1)
Cross currency swaps – hedging of cash 

2 0.3 8.9 - -

exchangeable for Saint-Gobain shares
Optional component of bonds 

2 - 12.5 - -

hedge accounting
Other derivatives – not qualifying for 

2 20.2 7.3 18.4 5.7

TOTAL 22.9 47.0 27.7 14.2

of which non-current portion 4.0 40.1 8.2 6.4

of which current portion 18.9 7.0 19.5 7.8

See description of swaps in note 9-4 below.(1)

minority put options or earn-out rights.
Veritas and Constantia Flexibles. It is largely comprised of
corresponds notably to the other financial liabilities of Bureau
– Other financial liabilities: as of June 30, 2016, this amountD 

commitments – Shareholder agreements and co-investment
co-investments (see note 27-6, “Off-balance-sheet
liabilities related to certain liquidities granted as part of
on 50% of its stake in Constantia Flexibles. It also includes

mechanisms”).

Clariant on its stake in Stahl and to the H. Turnauer Foundation
corresponds notably to the minority put options granted to
– Other financial liabilities: as of June 30, 2016, this amountE 

investments – Additional information on IHS.”
– Other financial liabilities: see note 7-2, “Equity-methodF 



43

Condensed consolidated financial statements H1 2016

WENDEL - Consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2016

Notes to the balance sheet

Interest rate swaps and foreign exchange hedgesNote 9-4

The value of interest rate swaps is calculated by the counterparties on the basis of the yield curve at the balance sheet date and the present
value of cash flows expected from the contracts.

Notional amount Characteristics (1) as
Qualified

Start (1) Maturity (1) 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

 
sign convention: (+)

 asset, (-) liability

Hedging of bonds carried by Wendel

$885 million/€800 million
Pay 2.23% in US dollars

against 0.24% in euros (2) 03/2016 11/2022  -8.6

  Other 0.4 0.1

  -8.2 0.1

Hedging of subsidiaries’ debt

€80 million 0.42% cap on Euribor pre-closing 12/2017 - -

€100 million (0% floor)
Pay 0.19% on Euribor

hedge pre-closing 10/2017 -0.3 -0.3

€40 million 1% cap on Euribor 04/2017 10/2018 - -

€30 million Euribor
0.02% tunnel – 0.43% on

06/2015 10/2018 -0.4 -0.2

$127 million 2% cap on Libor pre-closing 04/2017 - -

€45 million (0% floor)
Pay 0.21% against Euribor

pre-closing 04/2017 -0.1 0.1

€200 million Pay 0.75% against Euribor hedge pre-closing 04/2022 -11.2 -4.5

€400 million 2.00% cap against Euribor pre-closing 04/2020 1.4 2.2

  Other (3) -5.8 3.3

  -16.4 0.6

TOTAL -24.6 0.7

The positions indicated in this table are aggregations of several similar contracts. The characteristics are therefore weighted averages.(1)

“Managing currency risk.”
Wendel has established cross-currency swaps to convert €800 million of its bond debt into US dollars (average exchange rate of 1.1058), see note 4-5, (2)

This amount includes the Bureau Veritas currency hedges that convert debt denominated in sterling into euros.(3)
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Shareholders’ equityNOTE 10

  Par value Total number of shares Treasury shares
Number of shares

outstanding

As of 12/31/2015 €4 47,992,530 1,963,301 46,029,229

As of 06/30/2016 €4 48,010,380 2,254,022 45,756,358

first half of 2016.
share capital stems from the exercise of stock options during the
The increase of 17,850 in the number of shares comprising the

The number of shares held under the liquidity contract was 93,500

reduction of 6,500 during H1 2016.
as of June 30, 2016, vs. 100,000 as of December 31, 2015, a

As of June 30, 2016, Wendel held 2,160,522 of its shares in

as of December 31, 2015). These treasury shares were primarily
treasury outside of the context of the liquidity contract (1,863,301

performance shares, with the remainder being retained for

allocated to cover stock option exercises and grants of bonus and

potential acquisitions.

The net increase of 297,221 shares was due to:

the purchase of 339,335 shares during the first half; and■
the sale of 42,114 shares to meet the exercise of stock options.■

of June 30, 2016, which allowed the cancelation of 2% of capital in
In total, treasury shares accounted for 4.69% of the share capital as

July 2016 (see note 28, “Subsequent events”).

ProvisionsNOTE 11

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Provisions for risks and contingencies 237.8 307.1

Employee benefits 301.9 282.3

TOTAL 539.7 589.4

of which non-current 473.5 453.4

of which current 66.1 136.0
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Provisions for risks and contingenciesNote 11-1

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Bureau Veritas 137.7 133.7

Constantia Flexibles 58.7 61.6

AlliedBarton - 68.0

Cromology 10.4 9.9

Stahl 1.1 1.2

Oranje-Nassau Développement 9.4 11.9

Wendel and holding companies 20.6 20.7

TOTAL 237.8 307.1

of which non-current 171.7 171.1

of which current 66.1 136.0

subsidiaries and for Wendel and its holding companies are
The principal disputes, claims and risks identified for the operating

statements, “Provisions for risks and contingencies.”
described in note 15-1 to the 2015 consolidated financial

recognized any provision against them.
of these former employees to be unfounded, and has not

compensation to the Group’s performance were concluded either

managers as a result of the unwinding of a mechanism linking their
The various judicial proceedings brought by former Wendel

individual cases. The Wendel Group considers the various claims
by the rejection of their claims or a stay pending decisions in other

Employee benefitsNote 11-2

Provisions for retirement commitments and other long-term benefits are as follows:

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Bureau Veritas 174.8 148.4

Constantia Flexibles 66.8 61.3

AlliedBarton - 19.2

Cromology 29.7 24.9

Stahl 18.8 18.6

Oranje-Nassau Développement 10.4 8.5

Wendel and holding companies 1.4 1.4

 TOTAL 301.9 282.3
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Financial debt NOTE 12

In millions of euros Currency Coupon rate

Effective

rate (2)
interest

Maturity Repayment Total lines 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Wendel
2016 bonds EUR 4.875% 5.501% 05/2016 at maturity - 643.7
2017 bonds EUR 4.375% 5.186% 08/2017 at maturity 634.4 692.0
2018 bonds EUR 6.750% 5.727% 04/2018 at maturity 500.0 500.0
2019 bonds EUR 5.875% 5.397% 09/2019 at maturity 313.5 600.0

exchangeable bonds
2019 Saint-Gobain 

EUR 0.000% 1.342% 07/2019 at maturity 500.0
2020 bonds EUR 1.875% 2.055% 04/2020 at maturity 300.0 300.0
2021 bonds EUR 3.750% 3.833% 01/2021 at maturity 400.0 400.0
2024 bonds EUR 2.750% 2.686% 10/2024 at maturity 500.0 500.0
2027 bonds EUR 2.500% 2.576% 02/2027 at maturity 500.0 500.0
Syndicated loan EUR Euribor+margin 11/2019 revolving credit €650 million - -
Bank borrowings (1) EUR Euribor+margin 03/2020 revolving credit €500 million - -
Amortized cost of bonds and of the syndicated loan and deferred issuance costs -18.2 4.2
Accrued interest 66.5 93.9
Shareholder loans 21.0 20.2
  3,717.2 4,254.0
Bureau Veritas
2017 bonds EUR 3.750% 05/2017 at maturity 500.0 500.0
2021 bonds EUR 3.125% 01/2021 at maturity 500.0 500.0
Borrowings and debt from lending institutions maturing in less than 1 year – fixed rate 39.2 11.9
Borrowings and debt from lending institutions maturing in less than 1 year – floating rate 90.9 67.1
Borrowings and debt from lending institutions maturing in 1 to 5 years – fixed rate 601.3 642.1
Borrowings and debt from lending institutions maturing in 1 to 5 years – floating rate 310.2 314.4
Borrowings and debt from lending institutions maturing in more than 5 years – fixed rate 181.0 183.7
Borrowings and debt from lending institutions maturing in more than 5 years – floating rate 168.6 170.8
  2,391.2 2,390.0
Constantia Flexibles
2017 bonds EUR Fixed 05/2017 at maturity 129.1 129.1
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 04/2022 at maturity 886.3 886.3
Bank borrowings USD Libor+margin 2015 to 2022 amortizing 201.9 206.9
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 06/2023 amortizing 20.0 -
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 06/2022 revolving credit €90 million 20.0 -

(EUR, RUB, INR, CNY)
Bank borrowings Euribor+margin

and fixed 2015 to 2022 amortizing 33.2 36.3
Deferred issuance costs -47.1 -50.5
Other borrowings and accrued interest 58.0 37.8
  1,301.4 1,245.8
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In millions of euros Currency Coupon rate
interest

Effective

rate (2) Maturity Repayment Total lines 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

AlliedBarton (3) - 903.9

Cromology
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 08/2021 at maturity 267.0 267.0
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 08/2020 revolving credit €77 million 20.0 -
Deferred issuance costs -5.8 -6.3
Materis shareholder loans 54.4 51.2
Other borrowings and accrued interest 5.7 3.0
  341.3 314.9
Stahl
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 06/2019 revolving credit €35 million 20.0 -
Bank borrowings USD Libor+margin 06/2019 amortizing 85.7 99.4
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 06/2019 amortizing 17.2 19.6
Bank borrowings USD Libor+margin 12/2019 at maturity 98.3 100.0
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 12/2019 at maturity 26.0 26.0
Deferred issuance costs -5.1 -5.8
Other borrowings and accrued interest - -
  242.1 239.2
Mecatherm
Bank debt (senior) EUR Euribor+margin 2015 to 2018 amortizing 32.4 37.1
Bank borrowings EUR Euribor+margin 09/2017 revolving credit €5 million 5.0 5.0
Deferred issuance costs -0.6 -0.8
Other borrowings and accrued interest 0.9 1.0
  37.7 42.4
CSP Technologies
Bank borrowings USD Libor+margin 01/2022 amortizing 150.2 153.9
Bank borrowings USD Libor+margin 01/2020 revolving credit $25 million 14.4 -
Deferred issuance costs -9.4 -9.3
Other borrowings and accrued interest 2.3 2.6
  157.5 147.2
NOP
Bank borrowings JPY Tibor+margin 2015 to 2019 amortizing 9.6 9.6
Bank borrowings JPY Tibor+margin 02/2019 at maturity 26.3 22.9
Deferred issuance costs -0.2 -0.2
Other borrowings and accrued interest 1.5 1.5
  37.2 33.8

TOTAL 8,225.5 9,571.2
of which non-current portion 7,261.2 8,660.9
of which current portion 964.4 910.3

This loan was granted by the banks in the form of combined financial instruments, contractually linked and indissociable so as to enable the repayment of (1)
the funds made available by the banks. The combination of these instruments is equivalent to a conventional bank loan.
The effective interest rate is calculated inclusive of issue premiums/discounts and bank issuance fees. For bonds that were issued in several stages, the (2)
effective interest rate corresponds to the weighted average of the par value issued.
The AlliedBarton debt has been reclassified as “Liabilities of operations held for associates” (see note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation”).(3)
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Financial debt maturity scheduleNote 12-1

In millions of euros Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years More than 5 years Total

Par value Wendel and holding companies - -2,647.9 -996.8 -3,644.7

Interest Wendel and holding companies (1) -152.4 -373.3 -152.1 -677.9

Subsidiaries and associates

notional amount■ -889.0 -1,783.6 -1,848.2 -4,520.8

interest■ -175.3 -512.1 -61.5 -748.8

TOTAL -1,216.7 -5,317.0 -3,058.6 -9,592.2

Interest was calculated on the basis of the yield curve prevailing on June 30, 2016.(1)

Activities held for sale or for associatesNOTE 13

Assets and liabilities of operations to be recognized using the equity methodNote 13-1

The nature of the assets and liabilities of the AlliedBarton Group reclassified as “Assets of operations to be recognized using the equity method”
and “Liabilities of operations to be recognized using the equity method” (see note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation”) is as follows:

In millions of euros Assets Liabilities

Goodwill, net 885.0           Provisions 87.6

Intangible assets, net 487.1           Financial debt 903.2

Property, plant & equipment, net 6.1           Trade payables 15.5

Financial assets available for sale 30.9           Fiscal and employee-related liabilities 87.7

Trade receivables 291.0           Other 75.9

Cash and cash equivalents 38.8

Other 12.2

TOTAL 1,751.0 1,169.8

have accordingly been reclassified in the balance sheet.

The AlliedBarton Group is not intended to be sold, but will be consolidated by the equity method as of August 1, 2016, following its merger
with Universal Services of America (see note 28, “Subsequent events”). In accordance with IFRS 5, the assets and liabilities of AlliedBarton
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Net income from assets held for sale or to be recognized using the equity methodNote 13-2

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Gain on divestments

Parcours (1) 38.9 -

Other -0.2 -

  38.7 -

to be recognized using the equity method
Net income for the period from discontinued operations or operations 

AlliedBarton (2) -46.2 -

Parcours (1) 42.9 7.5

  -3.3 7.5

TOTAL 35.4 7.5

€78.3 million.

income of €42.9 million for the period including the discontinuation of depreciation, and the gain on disposal was €38.9 million. Excluding the 
discontinuation of depreciation, Parcours’ contribution to net income for the period was €3.5 million, and the disposal would have generated a gain of 

IFRS 5 provides for the discontinuation of depreciation from the date of classification as “Assets and liabilities held for sale.” Parcours generated net (1)

See note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation.” This item includes an expense of €44.8 million related to the merger between AlliedBarton and Universal (2)
Services of America (see note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation”), which will be offset in H2 by a gain of the same amount following the merger.

Information on AlliedBartonNote 13-3

The main income statement aggregates of the AlliedBarton Group are presented below:

In millions of euros 06/30/2016

Net sales (1) 1,061.5

EBITDA 59.9

Operating income (2) 34.1

Other operating income and expenses (2) (3) -54.1

NET INCOME -47.3

of which Net income – Group share -44.9

Organic sales growth was 6.9% in H1 2016.(1)
Excluding items eliminated on consolidation.(2)
This item includes an expense of €44.8 million related to the merger between AlliedBarton and Universal Services of America (3)
(see note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation”), which will be offset in H2 by a gain of the same amount following the merger.
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Notes to the income statement9

Net salesNOTE 14

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015 % Change Organic growth

Bureau Veritas 2,221.4 2,318.7 -4.2% -0.6%

Constantia Flexibles (1) 1,024.3 485.6 N/A 2.9%

Cromology 375.9 383.8 -2.1% 0.5%

Stahl 330.7 317.9 4.0% 6.6%

Oranje-Nassau Développement

Mecatherm■ 62.1 38.4 61.9% 61.9%

CSP Technologies (1)■ 56.1 38.5 N/A 13.3%

Nippon Oil Pump■ 21.5 19.9 8.0% 0.8%

TOTAL 4,091.9 3,602.7 13.6% 1.3%

Organic growth is calculated over six months.(1)

Finance costs, netNOTE 15

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Income from cash and cash equivalents 1.7 1.4

  1.7 1.4

Finance costs, gross

Interest expense -190.5 -177.7

Interest expense on loans from non-controlling shareholders -4.5 -5.3

Deferral of debt issuance costs and premiums/discounts 
(calculated according to the effective interest method) -5.4 -7.0

  -200.5 -190.0

TOTAL -198.8 -188.6
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Other financial income and expenseNOTE 16

This item amounting to an expense of €114.0 million was impacted in particular by the loss on bond redemptions and the revaluation of the
liability related to IHS co-investors:

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Gains/losses on disposal of assets available for sale - 0.4

Dividends received from unconsolidated companies 0.6 0.8

Net income on interest rate, currency and equity derivatives -9.3 30.2

Interest on other financial assets 3.8 9.7

Net currency exchange gains/losses -0.8 -26.4

Impact of discounting -5.7 -2.7

Gain on buyback of debt (1) -56.7 -0.0

Other (2) -46.0 -15.1

TOTAL -114.0 -3.1

Including a €56.6 million expense related to the redemption offer for bonds (see note 4-2, “Managing liquidity risk”).(1)

on IHS”).
This amount included a €40.8 million expense, representing a revaluation of the liability related to IHS co-investors (see note 7-2, “Additional information (2)

Tax expenseNOTE 17

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Current income tax payable -142.0 -141.4

Deferred taxes 27.3 34.6

TOTAL -114.7 -106.8

The portion of CVAE (value added) tax was recognized as an income tax, in accordance with IAS 12 and the instruction of the CNC (French
National Accounting Council) of January 14, 2010.
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Net income (loss) from equity-method investmentsNOTE 18

This item was negatively affected by the loss on the sale of Saint-Gobain shares and the currency translation loss recognized by IHS (see
note 7-2 “Additional information on IHS”):

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Net income including impact of goodwill allocation

Saint-Gobain 52.3 61.7

IHS -125.3 -60.7

exceet -3.9 -2.4

Other companies 0.4 0.4

Sale of Saint-Gobain shares (1) -229.6 -

Impact of IHS dilution (2) - 18.1

Impact of dilution on the Saint-Gobain investment (3) - -17.5

Reversal of provision for impairment of Saint-Gobain securities (4) - 106.6

Impairment of exceet shares - -16.2

TOTAL -306.0 89.9

See note 2, “Changes in scope of consolidation” with respect to Saint-Gobain.(1)
In H1 2015, the change in the consolidated percentage interest generated a dilution gain of €18.1 million stemming from the series of premiums applied (2)
to IHS’s capital increases.
The change in the Group’s stake in Saint-Gobain during H1 2015 resulted in an immaterial dilution of 0.2%.(3)
In H1 2015, a portion of the impairment recognized for the year ended December 31, 2014 was reversed to make the net carrying amount of securities (4)
equal to their value in use.

Earnings per shareNOTE 19

In euros and millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Net income – Group share -425.1 32.2

Impact of dilutive instruments on subsidiaries -8.8 -4.8

Diluted net income -433.9 27.4

Average number of shares, net of treasury shares 45,866,417 46,195,303

Potential dilution due to Wendel stock options (1) - 520,010

Diluted number of shares 45,866,417 46,715,313

Basic earnings per share (in euros) -9.27 0.70

Diluted earnings per share (in euros) -9.46 0.59

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (in euros) -10.07 0.54

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (in euros) -10.26 0.43

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations (in euros) 0.80 0.16

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations (in euros) 0.80 0.15

In accordance with the treasury stock method, it is assumed that the cash received from the exercise of dilutive instruments will be used to buy back the (1)
shares and partially neutralize the resulting dilution. The potential dilution is thus the net impact.
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Notes on changes in cash position10

Acquisition of property, plant & equipment and intangible assetsNOTE 20

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

By Bureau Veritas 66.7 86.4

By Constantia Flexibles 35.9 25.9

By Cromology 8.8 7.8

By Stahl 9.8 10.8

By AlliedBarton 1.5 -

By Oranje-Nassau Développement (1) 6.2 180.7

By Wendel and holding companies 0.4 0.3

TOTAL 129.3 311.9

Including €175.7 million for the purchase of vehicles leased by Parcours in H1 2015.(1)

Acquisition of equity investmentsNOTE 21

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

CSP Technologies - 184.1

Constantia Flexibles - 1,337.1

Participation in IHS capital increase - 97.1

Other acquisitions by Wendel and holding companies 0.3 8.9

By Bureau Veritas 131.8 52.3

By Cromology - 0.9

By Stahl 1.6 -

By Constantia Flexibles 0.9 -

By Oranje-Nassau Développement (1) 39.6 -

TOTAL 174.2 1,680.3

This relates to the acquisition of Maxwell Chase by CSP Technologies (see note 2, “Changes in (1)
scope of consolidation”).
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Disposal of equity investmentsNOTE 22

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

Sale of Saint-Gobain shares 1,155.0 -

Sale of Bureau Veritas shares - 975.1

Disposal of Parcours 240.7 -

Other 5.4 -

TOTAL 1,401.0 975.1

Impact of changes in scope of consolidation and of operations held for saleNOTE 23

As of June 30, 2016, this item corresponds to the consolidation of Bureau Veritas’ and Constantia Flexibles’ subsidiaries in the amounts of
€9.6 million for €7.1 million respectively, and the reclassification as “Assets and liabilities of operations to be recognized using the equity
method” of the cash and cash equivalents of the AlliedBarton Group in the amount of €38.8 million.

In the first half of 2015, this line item comprised assets that entered the scope of consolidation of Constantia Flexibles and CSP
Technologies.

Changes in other financial assets and liabilities and otherNOTE 24

As of June 30, 2015, this line item principally reflected the negative €136.1 million impact of unwinding the Saint-Gobain put options.

companies
Dividends received from equity-method investments and unconsolidated NOTE 25

Dividends received from Bureau Veritas and Stahl, in the amounts of €90.4 million and €48.0 million respectively, are eliminated on
consolidation.

The €44.4 million Saint-Gobain dividend was paid in June 2016.
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Net change in borrowings and other financial liabilitiesNOTE 26

Details of financial debt are shown in note 12, “Financial debt.”

In millions of euros 1st half 2016 1st half 2015

New borrowings by:

Wendel - Bond issue (1) 500.0 500.0

Bureau Veritas 45.8 259.6

Constantia Flexibles (2) 43.8 1,092.8

Cromology 32.8 14.1

Stahl 25.0 -

AlliedBarton 31.4 -

Oranje-Nassau Développement (3) 16.4 385.9

  695.2 2 252.3

Borrowings repaid by:

Wendel – 2016 bonds (1) 643.6 -

Wendel – Repurchase of bonds (1) 400.0 -

Bureau Veritas 13.8 68.8

Constantia Flexibles (2) 11.4 558.3

Cromology 0.2 7.1

Stahl 19.3 33.9

AlliedBarton 36.2 -

Oranje-Nassau Développement (3) 9.3 304.1

  1,133.9 972.2

TOTAL -438.7 1,280.0

See note 4-2.1 “Wendel’s liquidity risk and its holding companies”.(1)
In H1 2015, these amounts corresponded to the implementation of the new Constantia Flexibles funding implemented upon its acquisition by Wendel, (2)
and the repayment of the existing funding.
In H1 2015, these amounts related to the issuance of bonds to cover Parcours’ operations in the amount of €225.3 million, and to the repayment of (3)
€175.9 million in existing debt. These loans financed the company’s fleet of vehicles leased out to customers. These amounts also included €151 million in 
drawdowns as part of the new CSP Technologies funding implemented upon its acquisition, and repayment of the existing funding in the amount of 
€118 million.



56 WENDEL - Consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2016

Other notes

Condensed consolidated financial statements H1 2016

Other notes11

Off-balance-sheet commitmentsNOTE 27

As of June 30, 2016, there were no commitments liable to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial position other than the leases
mentioned below (see note 35-8 to the 2015 consolidated financial statements on leasing).

Collateral and other security given in connection with financingNote 27-1

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Flexibles Group.
accounts and trade receivables as collateral for the repayment of the debt owed by the Constantia 
(i) Pledge by Constantia Flexibles Group entities of shares of the principal companies and of certain bank 

1,348.5 1,296.4

(ii) Pledge by Cromology Group entities of shares of the principal companies and of certain bank accounts 
and trade receivables as collateral for the repayment of the debt owed by the Cromology Group. 292.7 270.0

(iii) Pledge by Stahl Group entities of shares of the principal companies and of certain bank accounts, 
trade receivables and assets as collateral for the repayment of debt owed by the Stahl Group. 247.2 245.0

financed vehicles and the lease payments received. Pledge of certain bank accounts and trade 
receivables.

(iv) Security given by Parcours Group entities under its bank borrowing arrangements, including the 

- 635.0

Technologies Group.

(v) Pledge by CSP Technologies Group entities of shares of the principal companies and of certain 
bank accounts and trade receivables as collateral for the repayment of the debt owed by the CSP 

166.8 156.5

(vi) Joint and several guarantee and/or pledge by Mecatherm Group entities of shares of the companies 
and of certain trade receivables as collateral for the repayment of the debt owed by the Mecatherm 
Group. Note that Wendel provided a first-demand guarantee of €15 million in favor of the banks. 37.9 42.7

(vii) Pledge by Nippon Oil Pump Group entities of shares of the principal companies and of certain bank 
accounts, trade receivables and assets as collateral for the repayment of debt owed by the Nippon Oil 
Pump Group. 36.0 32.5

of certain bank accounts, trade receivables and assets as collateral for the repayment of debt owed 
by the AlliedBarton Group.

(viii) Pledge by AlliedBarton Group entities (ABSS) of shares of the principal companies and 

910.4 933.3

(ix) Pledge of listed shares in connection with financing subject to activation of guarantees. - -

(x) Pledge of cash in connection with financing subject to activation of guarantees. - -

TOTAL 3,039.5 3,611.4
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Guarantees given as part of asset Note 27-2
sales

Guarantees given as part of the sale of the Kerneos, Parex and
Chryso divisions of Materis, and the disposals of the Deutsch,
Editis and Parcours Groups, as well as reciprocal guarantees

customary representations and guarantees for such transactions.
No claim with respect to these guarantees is pending to date.

granted on Clariant’s acquisition of a stake in Stahl in consideration
for the contribution of its Leather Finishing division cover

activities in 2009 have expired, although a tax claim of
approximately $500 thousand was received in May 2016.

All deadlines applicable to claims in respect of guarantees given in
connection with the sale of Oranje-Nassau Energie’s oil and gas

No provisions have been recognized for these guarantees.

with asset acquisitions
Guarantees received in connection Note 27-3

AlliedBarton and Saham, and reciprocal guarantees received on
Clariant’s acquisition of a stake in Stahl in consideration for the
contribution of its Leather Finishing division cover customary
representations.

Guarantees received in connection with the acquisitions of
Mecatherm, IHS, Constantia Flexibles, CSP Technologies,

Off-balance-sheet commitments given and received related to operating activitiesNote 27-4

In millions of euros 06/30/2016 12/31/2015

Market counter-guarantees and other commitments given

by Bureau Veritas (1) 378.4 401.6

by Constantia Flexibles 3.8 1.5

by Cromology 13.3 8.7

by Oranje-Nassau Développement (Mecatherm) 12.3 20.9

TOTAL COMMITMENTS GIVEN 407.8 432.7

Other commitments received - -

TOTAL COMMITMENTS RECEIVED - -

Commitments given by Bureau Veritas included guarantees such as bank and parent-company guarantees.(1)

commitments
Acquisition and subscription Note 27-5

Oranje-Nassau Développement.

In the six months to June 30, 2016, the Group undertook to invest
approximately €11 million in indirect investments made by

in July 2016).

Furthermore, as part of the investment in SGI Africa (see note 28,
“Subsequent events”), the Group has undertaken to invest up to
€120 million in stages over the coming years (€25 million invested

Shareholder agreements and Note 27-6
co-investment mechanisms

managers) of subsidiaries in connection with mechanisms enabling
them to share in their company’s performance (AlliedBarton,
Constantia Flexibles, CSP Technologies, Materis, Stahl, Mecatherm
and Nippon Oil Pump).

agreements governing its relations with co-shareholders, whether
co-investors in its subsidiaries or unlisted companies (Constantia

Flexibles, IHS, Materis, Saham and Stahl) or managers (or former

As of June 30, 2016, the Wendel Group was party to several

These agreements contain various clauses related to:

corporate governance (composition of governing bodies, veto■
rights on certain strategic decisions and rights to information);

terms of share transfers (lock-up periods, pre-emptive rights and■
rights of first refusal);

anti-dilution rules in the event of transactions involving the share■
capital; and

exit terms in the event of a sale (tag-along and drag-along rights)■
or IPO.
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agreements also contain the following terms:
The Constantia Flexibles, Stahl and Saham shareholder

accounting principles applicable to minority puts;

manages the interests of the founding family of Constantia

put option granted to it by Wendel to sell half of its initial
investment at market value, payable in two tranches in cash or in
Wendel shares, at the Wendel Group’s option. This commitment
was recognized in financial liabilities in accordance with

Flexibles, has the option to request an IPO or a repurchase of
shares through a refinancing of the group between 2020 and 2023,
in the aim of ensuring the liquidity of its investment as a priority.
Failing such an event, the H. Turnauer Foundation can exercise a

for Constantia Flexibles, the H. Turnauer Foundation, which■

for Stahl:■
minority financial investors (former second-lien and■

financial liabilities in accordance with accounting policies
applicable to minority put options ;

mezzanine lenders) have a put option to sell shares at a
discount, in tranches of one-third of their stake between 2016
and 2018. The first third was not exercised. The commitment
bearing on the two-thirds still exercisable was recognized in

liquidity guarantee granted by the Wendel Group to Clariant
in an amount determined by a predefined margin multiple.
This commitment was recognized in financial liabilities in
accordance with accounting principles applicable to minority
puts;

Clariant, a minority shareholder in Stahl since the acquisition■

of Clariant Leather Services, benefits from a medium-term

2018 (at a price guaranteeing a minimum IRR of 15% for the
Group).

for Saham, the majority shareholder of Saham has the option to■
buy back the Wendel Group’s entire investment in Saham until

managers) of subsidiaries (AlliedBarton, Constantia Flexibles, CSP
Technologies, Materis, Mecatherm, Nippon Oil Pump and Stahl)
also contain stipulations relative to:

The agreements with the management teams (managers or former

the right to liquidate their co-investment in successive tranches, in■
the absence of a sale or IPO beyond a certain period of time
(between the 5th and 12th anniversaries of the completion of the
co-investment, depending on the relevant agreement); and

specific cases).

the Wendel Group in the event of the departure of an executive
from a subsidiary and/or commitment to buy shares in certain

the handling of executive departures (commitment to sell shares to■

Co-investment terms for senior managers in the subsidiary
companies are described in greater detail in note 4-2 to the 2015
consolidated financial statements relating to the participation of
subsidiary managers in the performance of Group entities.

these liquidity commitments is the market value determined by the
parties or an independent appraiser, or a value calculated on the
basis of an earnings multiple.

in AlliedBarton, Constantia Flexibles, CSP Technologies, Materis,
Mecatherm, Nippon Oil Pump and Stahl. The value applied to

back the shares held by subsidiary managers (or former managers)

As part of the liquidity commitments under these agreements, in
the absence of a liquidity event (divestment or IPO) before certain
predetermined dates, the Wendel Group can be required to buy

This would also be the case for Wendel managers holding shares
under co-investment mechanisms in AlliedBarton, Constantia
Flexibles, CSP Technologies, IHS, Materis, Mecatherm, Nippon Oil
Pump, Saham and Stahl (see note 4-1 to the 2015 consolidated
financial statements on the participation of Wendel managers in
the Group’s investments).

As of June 30, 2016, based on the investment values used to
calculate NAV or based on pricing formulas in the agreements:

return conditions as Wendel by all joint shareholders and
co-investing managers of Wendel subsidiaries enjoying liquidity
rights was €350 million (including amounts related to minority put
options on Constantia Flexibles and Stahl); and

the value of pari passu investments made under the same risk and■

ownership interest, was €156 million.
investments having dilutive effects on the Wendel Group’s

the value of the portion of non-pari passu investments of■
co-investing managers of Wendel and its subsidiaries, i.e.

In accordance with accounting principles relating to minority puts
and to co-investment mechanisms, a portion of these amounts is
recognized within financial liabilities (€419 million).

or IPO) before the end of the current year.
be payable in 2017 in the absence of a liquidity event (divestment

The 2016 cash commitments for the Stahl and Wendel managers
for their joint investment in Stahl were recognized in financial
liabilities in 2015. Their amount was revalued as of June 30, 2016,
generating an accounting expense of €21 million. This cash would

of each investment. As a result, they may be lower (or nil) or higher
in future fiscal years.

Co-investment and liquidity commitment values vary with the value
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Wendel Group in connection with 
acquisitions, divestments or 
restructuring of investment financing

Other agreements concluded by the Note 27-7 recognized on the balance sheet, as the exercise of this right
depends on the Wendel Group’s decision to divest.

Wendel’s overall return is more than 2.5 times its 2010
re-investment, and is equivalent to the allocation of 1 to 2 bonus
shares per share held by these ex-subordinated lenders. In
accordance with accounting standards, this commitment is not

forfeited their claims as creditors during the 2010 restructuring
received an earn-out right exercisable only upon the total or partial
divestment of Wendel’s stake in Stahl. This right is exercisable if

Subordinated (mezzanine and second-lien) lenders to Stahl who

subject to the achievement by the CSP Technologies Group of
predetermined performance criteria in the three years following
the group’s acquisition by Wendel. No provision has been set
aside to cover this contingency.

CSP Technologies vendors benefit from an earn-out right capped

profitability thresholds over the duration of its investment in
Constantia Flexibles in the event of divestment.

As part of the syndication with Maxburg Capital Partners of a
minority investment in Constantia Flexibles, Wendel enjoys an
earn-out right on the portion transferred in this manner subject to
the achievement by Maxburg Capital Partners of minimum

Subsequent eventsNOTE 28

Cancellation of 2% of Wendel’s share 1.
capital

cancel 960,837 treasury shares, representing 2% of the share
capital, pursuant to the authorization given to it by the Supervisory
Board. This cancellation of securities follows share purchases made
by the Group in connection with its share buyback program.

At the end of July 2016, Wendel’s Executive Board decided to

Merger of AlliedBarton and Universal 2.
Services of America

Universal. It also received approximately $387 million in cash after
the closing of the deal. Allied Universal will be consolidated using
the equity method from August 1, 2016, given the significant
influence exercised by the Group.

The merger of AlliedBarton and Universal Services of America was
completed on August 1, 2016. Following the transaction, in
consideration for its shares in the capital of AlliedBarton Security
Services, Wendel now holds a stake of approximately 33% in Allied

Investment in SGI Africa3.

builds and operates shopping malls, notably under its PlaYce
brand. These projects represent a total investment of about
€500 million to be financed by its shareholders and by bank debt.

acquisition of 40% of the capital of SGI Africa. SGI Africa is a
fast-growing pan-African real estate company created by CFAO to
support its development plan in the retailing sector. SGI Africa

On July 29, 2016, Wendel announced the completion of the

SGI Africa’s shareholders now comprise Wendel (40% interest),
CFAO (40%) and FFC (partnership between CDC International
Capital and Qatar Investment Authority, 20%). As such, Wendel and
CFAO control the company jointly.

investment of approximately €25 million in SGI Africa, and plans to
invest up to €120 million in stages in the coming years.

Wendel, via Oranje-Nassau Développement, has made an initial
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Statutory auditors’ review report on the 2016 half-year financial information

Statutory auditors’ review report 12
on the 2016 half-year financial information

(Period from January 1, 2016 to June 30, 2016)

information given in the Group’s half-year management report. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance
with, French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

This is a free translation into English of the statutory auditors' review report on the half-year financial information issued in French and is
provided solely for the convenience of English-speaking users. This report includes information relating to the specific verification of

75009 Paris
89, rue Taitbout 

To the Shareholders, 
WENDEL 

article L. 451-1-2 III of the French Monetary and Financial Code (Code monétaire et financier), we hereby report to you on:
In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your General Meeting of Shareholders and in accordance with the requirements of

the review of the accompanying condensed half-year consolidated financial statements of WENDEL, for the six months ended June 2016;■
the verification of the information contained in the half-year management report.■

These condensed half-year consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Executive Board. Our role is to express a
conclusion on these financial statements based on our review.

I – Conclusion on the financial statements

an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

We conducted our review in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. A review of interim financial information consists
of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review
procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in

Union applicable to interim financial information.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying condensed half-year consolidated
financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34 – standard of the IFRSs as adopted by the European

Without qualifying our conclusion, we draw your attention to the matter set out in note 7-4 “Impairment tests on equity-method investments”
to the condensed half-year consolidated financial statements. In a context of uncertainties with regard to the outlook for the global economy
which makes forecasting difficult, this note describes the methods applied to test the interest held by WENDEL in Saint-Gobain for
impairment as at 30 June 2016, and in particular, the sensitivity of the result of this test, with regard to changes in the discount rate, the
long-term growth rate and normative profitability taken into account for the computation of cash flows beyond the five-year business plan.

II – Specific verification

We have also verified the information given in the half-year management report on the condensed half-year consolidated financial
statements subject to our review.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and consistency with the condensed half-year consolidated financial statements.

Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris-La-Défense, September 7, 2016

French original signed by:
The Statutory Auditors

Françoise Garnier
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit ERNST & YOUNG Audit 

Jean Bouquot
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